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Friday, January 29, 2010

--- Upon commencing at 9:34 a.m.

MS. HELT:  Good morning, everyone.  My name is Maureen Helt and I am counsel to Board Staff.  I have with me Vincent Cooney and Robert Caputo, who are both advisors with the electricity facilities and infrastructure here at the Board. 

We are sitting today for the purpose of a technical conference on the Independent Electricity System Operator, otherwise known as IESO, a fiscal 2010 fees submission for review, case EB-2009-0377. 

We are scheduled to proceed today for the entire day.  However, we will just see how the day proceeds and it may be that we don't need the entire day. 

As you are all aware, this technical conference is being transcribed, and transcripts will be made available at the end of the day and circulated to all parties. 

As you are also all aware, having probably participated in many technical conferences, the purpose today is for Board Staff and the other intervenors to be able to ask questions of the IESO and to have information shared between the parties so we have as complete a record as possible for the purpose of going into the settlement conference, which is scheduled for sometime, I believe, at the end of February, around February 26th or so, and also for the purpose of have a complete record for the hearing, should there be an oral hearing or otherwise a written hearing.

What I would suggest we do in terms of process and procedure today is we will first go through appearances, and thereafter I will ask Mr. Zacher, as counsel for the IESO, to make a brief statement, and then we will proceed with the witness panels and the questions for those various witnesses. 

It's also my understanding from Mr. Zacher that there may be certain issues that we would like to deal with first in order to allow those witnesses to leave early in the day due to other commitments.

So if we could then first go through the appearances, please?
Appearances: 

MR. ZACHER:  Good morning.  Glenn Zacher appearing for IESO, and with me is Richard Lanni, counsel with the IESO, and Biju Gopi, who is senior regulatory advisor, and I will introduce the folks on the witness panels when it comes to that point.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  James Wightman on behalf of VECC.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.

MS. GRICE:  Shelley Grice representing AMPCO.

MR. ANDERSON:  Colin Anderson on behalf of Ontario Power Generation.

MS. COVELLI:  Lucille Covelli, Ontario Power Generation.

MR. TRAVERS:  Scott Travers, Society of Energy Professionals.

MS. PYLYSHYN:  Sonia Pylyshyn, Society of Energy Professionals.

MR. FINKBEINER:  Darren Finkbeiner with the IESO. 

MR. SILLS:  Brian Sills, IESO.

MR. SHARMA:  Indi Sharma with the IESO.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.  Mr. Zacher, if I could ask you, then, to proceed.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. ZACHER:  Thanks very much.  Just a couple of thank yous to start off.  I want to thank the Board for having agreed to a technical conference.  Once again, we appreciate that.  And, as well, thanks to all of the intervenors who submitted questions in advance.  It's of great assistance and helps to make sure that we have the right people here to address the specific questions under the issues on the issues list.  

So I am just going to introduce the panels.  What we propose is that there be two panels.  The first panel is going to address issues 1 to 3 on the issues list, and if I start at the far left, Dan Rochester is the manager of reliability standards and assessments for the IESO.  Next to Dan is Bill Van Veghel, who is the human resources manager for the IESO.  Next to Mr. Van Veghel is Susan Nicholson, who is the corporate controller, and then to Susan is Nick Ingman, who is manager government relations and regulatory affairs.

And, as well, we have Rhonda Wright Hilbig, who is next to Nick here.  She is the manager business architecture for the EDAC project.

So what I would suggest, if it's okay, is that Mr. Rochester is on the panel simply to answer questions with regards to issue 3.2, which is the issue dealing with market demand.  So if it's all right with Board Staff and everyone here, if we could just start with those questions, and then Mr. Rochester can excuse himself.  He has some other engagements, and then Ms. Wright Hilbig can replace him.

MS. HELT:  Thank you, Mr. Zacher.  That is fine with Board Staff, and I believe the other interveners have indicated they don't have an issue with that, unless anyone else would like to comment.  

Perhaps, Mr. Zacher, before we do commence with that one witness, I just have one short preliminary matter I would like to address.  As you are aware, yesterday late in the afternoon Board Staff did circulate to you certain additional questions with respect to the market surveillance panel report which is being issued.  I am not sure if it was released yesterday or if it's going to be released today.  

However, there were certain questions, and I intend to have those questions circulated to all of the other parties perhaps at the break, and we will also send it electronically to you. 

I understand that you do not have witnesses available today to answer those questions, given the short notice of the fact that we would be asking these questions.  

What I propose is that we put these questions on the record by way of exhibit and that I ask for your undertaking to have these questions answered in due course.

MR. ZACHER:  Yes.  We did receive those late afternoon.  And so just to confirm, I haven't had opportunity to obtain instructions and we don't have, in any event, the people that would be necessary to address these issues.

So we will have to take those questions under consideration and get back in due course.  The one thing I'd just like to point out is that I gather that the impetus for the questions is the MSP report that was either just issued or is about to be issued, and it's a complicated area. 

 And so this is -- to the extent answers to questions are provided, it is going to take some time to digest the report, consider the questions in light of the report and provide responses.  So perhaps we could talk at the break as to what would be an appropriate period of time to get back to the Board.

MS. HELT:  Yes, that's fine.  Just a moment please.  Thank you, Mr. Zacher.  Can I, then, just ask to have the questions relating to MSP monitoring report on the IESO administrated electricity markets marked as Exhibit TC.1?  And, again, Board Staff will have these questions circulated to all the parties.  We will give you a hard copy at the break, and then we will circulate them electronically.  
EXHIBIT NO. TC.1:  Questions relating to MSP monitoring report on the IESO administrated electricity markets.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.  We can then start with questions for Mr. Rochester.  Mr. Caputo.
INDEPENDENT ELECTRICITY SYSTEM OPERATOR - PANEL 1

Dan Rochester


Bill Van Veghel


Susan Nicholson


Nick Ingman


Rhonda Wright Hilbig
Questions by Mr. Caputo:


MR. CAPUTO:  This set of questions relate to the methodology for calculating usage fees, and the references for the questions are Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, pages 12 to 14.  The second reference is Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1 on page 1, and the third reference is Exhibit B, tab 4, schedule 1.  

Now, based on the prefiled evidence, the market demand used in the calculation of the IESO usage fee in 2010 is 149.4 terawatt hours, which is the same as what is projected for 2009.  There is a slight reduction to 149.3 terawatt hours in 2012.  The evidence indicates that the load forecasts used in calculating the usage fees are based on the 18-month outlook which was released on May the 25th, 2009.Now, the first question I have is:  Could you tell us if the market demand used in the calculation of the ISEO usage fee is consistent with the IESO's latest 18-month outlook?

MR. ROCHESTER:  It's -- the forecast is not consistent in the final value, but it is consistent in terms of the approach used to develop the demand forecast.  Our latest demand forecast was released in November of 2009 and for that forecast, the Ontario demand was estimated -- was forecast to be 141.1 terawatt hours.  Losses were projected to be 3.1 terawatt hours, the same as in the previous forecast, and in -- that results in a net Ontario load consumption of 138 terawatt hours, to which we also have a forecast of 13.1 terawatt hours for exports, to come up with a total of 151.1 terawatt hour, a difference of 1.7 terawatt hours, approximately 1 percent. 

MR. CAPUTO:  So that's 1 percent from those values that I just mentioned before?

MR. ROCHESTER:  That is correct. 

MR. CAPUTO:  So could you explain any impact -- any impact that using these latest values would have on the IESO's proposed 2010 usage fee?

MS. NICHOLSON:  Good morning.  If all things were consistently equal, the impact would be that the usage fee would be lower, but I believe earlier in the week we did file updated evidence in terms of our 2010 outlook.  And you will see by that that not everything has stayed the same since the time the business plan was issued.

MR. CAPUTO:  So are there other factors that would lead you to not change the usage fee? 

MS. NICHOLSON:  That is correct.  At this time we are not proposing to change our 2010 usage fee. 

MR. CAPUTO:  The next question on this set is:

"Please explain how the impacts of conservation and demand management initiatives have been reflected in the market demand used in the calculation of the usage fee."

MR. ROCHESTER:  I would be happy to.  There are three aspects to those values.  We break them down into conservation, which consists of energy efficiency, fuel switching and smart meter impacts.  We receive that information from the Ontario Power Authority.  They provide it to us in an hourly form, projected over a number of years.  We take the incremental components of that and add them to the historic demand base from which we start, and project those out into future years.

The second component are the demand response programs.  Those are comprised of dispatchable demands that are operating in the Ontario market, so those are essentially ISEO programs.  We take into account the demand response programs of the Ontario Power Authority to the -- we have the information of what is contracted under those programs and the contractual requirements behind them, so we can estimate the impact that those would have on demand, potentially.  And we also take into account contracted loads that have been contracted by the OPA, such as Loblaws, load that's distributed across the province.

The third and final component that we take into account is embedded generation.  That first began to develop under the Renewable Energy Standard Offer Programs, or RESOP, and will be continued under the Feed and Tariff Programs.  Embedded generation serves to be a demand-reducer.  Conservation is a demand-reducer.  We treat demand response as a resource because it can be activated in a manner similar to a generation resource. 

MR. CAPUTO:  Okay.  Well, thanks a lot, Mr. Rochester.  Do you have anything else to add or...Well, thanks for that.  I guess that's my last question on that set.

Just one follow-up question.  Susan, you mentioned that there were other factors that resulted in your decision not to change the usage fee even though the demand is reduced.  Could you tell us what those factors are that would result in keeping the usage fee the same? 

MS. NICHOLSON:  Yes, I can.  Unfortunately, I don't know the exhibit number of the updated financial evidence that was given.

MR. ZACHER:  I don't think it has an exhibit number.  It was filed, I think, two days -- yesterday or the day before, but we could give it an exhibit number. 

MS. HELT:  We can give it an exhibit number today for the purpose of the technical conference.  We will mark that as Exhibit TC-2.  Okay?
EXHIBIT NO. TC.2:  UPDATED FINANCIAL EVIDENCE.

MS. NICHOLSON:  And do you have that exhibit with you? 

MS. HELT:  Just a moment, please.

MS. NICHOLSON:  Thank you.

MR. ZACHER:  If anybody doesn't have those with them, we have some extra copies we would be happy to hand out.  

MS. HELT:  Does anyone require an additional copy?  All right.  And does the witness have a copy before her?  All right, then.

MS. NICHOLSON:  Okay.  If I could turn everybody's attention to page 4 of that exhibit, at the top of the page we have outlined a revised 2010 financial outlook.  In the first column under "2010 projection" we have reflected the increase in our demand outlook in our usage fees at the 82.2 cents.  That is offset by additional costs or different assumptions, which have changed since the summertime.  Those assumptions include a change in the discount rate on the pension expense from what we had originally put in the business plan, as well as changes in expected amortization, for the most part.

So, as well as have having additional revenues with the increased demand, we also are now forecasting additional costs, leaving us with a net projection of an accumulated -- or a deficit in the year of $300,000. 

MR. CAPUTO:  Is the deficit different now from what it was in the old calculation?

MS. NICHOLSON:  Yes.  In the business plan we always planned to break even.


MR. CAPUTO:  Okay.

MS. NICHOLSON:  And at this point in time, the -- it's a deficit of $300,000.

MR. CAPUTO:  Okay.  Thanks very much for that.  

MS. HELT:  Are there any other questions with respect to the issue Mr. Rochester is dealing with?  Well, Mr. Rochester, it feels like there -- or appears there are no other questions for you, so if you have other commitments, you are excused.

MR. ROCHESTER:  Thank you very much.

MS. HELT:  If we then go, with respect to the order of the questions, then, the first issue under operating costs dealing with pension plan expenses, if we can refer to Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1, pages 13 to 15, on page -- I will just wait until everyone -- all the witnesses have an opportunity to turn to that. 

On page 13, you will see the heading "Institutional Arrangements".  Under that heading it indicates that the IESO has its own pension plan, and in addition the rate of change in the annual pension expense of plans of organizations that are part of a larger pension plan is likely to be lower than that of an individual plan sponsor, like the IESO.  

The first question is if you could please explain the relevance of the above-noted statement that the rate of change of pension expense of plans of organizations are part of a larger pension plan is likely to be lower than that of an individual plan sponsor like the IESO.

MS. NICHOLSON:  Yes, I can.  When we referred to larger pension plans in this submission, what we were really referring to would be multi-employer plans similar to OMERS.  In that type of arrangement, the pension expense for the company in the year is their actual pension contribution, so the cash outlay they contribute to the plan. 

In the IESO's case, because we are a single employer plan, our pension expense is actually based on accrual basis, and it takes into account discount rates which bring back a present value of what our future obligation is. 

So what we were saying in that statement was, if you base your pension expense in your contributions in the year, it's likely more stable or less volatile than basing your pension expense on an accrual basis that is adjusted for net present value every year as the discount rates change.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.  Could you also indicate if the pension expenses would likely be lower if the IESO was part of a larger pension plan?

MS. NICHOLSON:  No, I don't believe that that's necessarily true.  The point was that they would be flatter.  At the end of the day, every pension plan has to meet its obligations at the end of the day.  So it's really the accounting treatment within the years that you see the peaks and valleys, and it wouldn't be the pension expense itself that would be lower.

MS. HELT:  So when you say "flatter", you mean there wouldn't be the same peaks and valleys.  It would just be more consistently at a consistent level?

MS. NICHOLSON:  That's correct.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.

MR. CAPUTO:  Do the other Ontario Hydro successor companies all have similar single plan?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Yes, they do.

MR. CAPUTO:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  If we could refer to that same exhibit, page 14, The paragraph starting with "measurement date", at the bottom of that page it says:
"...as of April 30, 2009 the discount rate was 6.4%, slightly higher than the 2008 discount rate of 6.1%."


It also states that:
"This slight increase in discount rate has served to slightly reduce the pension expense; however, other changes in assumptions offset this reduction."


Could you please tell me:  What is the reduction in pension plan expenses in 2010 due to the increase in the discount rate?

MS. NICHOLSON:  Yes.  The change in discount rate actually results in a reduction in the pension expense of $1.8 million.

MS. HELT:  Considering the reduction in Q4, what accounts for the 4.6 percent increase in pension expenses from 2009 and 2010?

MS. NICHOLSON:  If I could turn your attention to that same exhibit, Exhibit B, tab 3, page 15.

MS. HELT:  Yes.

MS. NICHOLSON:  There are really -- in the table at the bottom of that page, there are really three components which impact pension expense in a year.  

MS. HELT:  Can I just clarify?  Are you referring to page 15?

MS. NICHOLSON:  Fifteen, yes.  Those components are the expected developments, the fund performance and the change in discount rate.  So as you can see, the 1.8 is there as a change in discount rate.  

Expected developments are assumptions that are used in the actuarial calculation of the pension expense, and they are things we expect to see change in our pension expense.  So, for example, as our employee population ages, expected salary escalation, the assumptions that are built into the calculation of what our pension expense would be, that is what those costs are. 

The line on fund performance has to do with the expected returns on the plan assets.  Currently, the IESO expects to have a return of 6.75 percent on our plan assets versus the actual return.  

Those -- well, over the last couple of years, those have been losses, and those losses are actually amortized into the expense over a period of EARSL, which is 11 years as opposed to all being taken in one year.  

So those are the two other components.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.  Pension expense.

MR. CAPUTO:  So the change in interest rate resulted in a reduction of 1.8 million in expanses; is that right?

MS. NICHOLSON:  That's correct.

MR. CAPUTO:  But still overall in the year, there was I believe what is a 4.6 percent increase going from 2009 to 2010?

MS. NICHOLSON:  You are referring to the 0.3?

MR. CAPUTO:  No.  The overall increase in the pension cost going from 2009 to 2010 is, I believe, 4 percent -- 4.6 percent higher in 2010?

MS. NICHOLSON:  Can you tell me what page you are looking at, Robert, sorry?

MR. CAPUTO:  Well, it's just a calculation we have.  It's a table that shows the total pension costs.

MS. NICHOLSON:  Robert, I think you are referring to the actual business plan on page 15, Exhibit B, tab 1.

MR. CAPUTO:  Actually, I see it on a table on page 15 of -- I believe it's the business plan, yes.  

MS. NICHOLSON:  Okay.  I see where you are.

MR. CAPUTO:  So, basically, in 2009 we have a projected expense of 10.8 million, and it's 11.3 million in 2010, the budget.  So that's an increase of about 4.6 percent, I believe.

MS. NICHOLSON:  Correct.

MR. CAPUTO:  But the 10.8, there was a reduction due to the interest rate reduction.  So, in fact, that increase would have been even higher if it wasn't for the difference in interest rate.  So if you ignore the impact of the interest rate -- 

MS. NICHOLSON:  Yeah.  No, I understand what you are saying.

MR. CAPUTO:  -- we would have -- of the discount rate, we would have had an increase that's even higher than 4.6 percent?

MS. NICHOLSON:  That's correct.  

MR. CAPUTO:  Okay.  All right.  Thanks very much for that.  Anything else...

MS. HELT:  One further question with respect to this topic.  If you could indicate for us, please, the components that make up the increases in pension expenses in 2011 and 2012, and when you are doing that, if you could indicate the change in each component and provide an explanation for the increases for each of those components?

MS. NICHOLSON:  The components remain the same.  They are the three components, the expected developments, the fund performance and the change in discount rates.  The change from 2010 to 2011 and 2011 to 2012, I don't have the dollar values of those components.  Those are actuarial calculations, and the assumptions were just carried forward and we didn't get that level of detail.  We didn't request that level of detail from our actuaries. 

MS. HELT:  Is it usually the case that you don't have the details from the actuarial for the last two years, or for the latter two years?

MS. NICHOLSON:  Yes, it is.  We only ever ask for the reconciliation from the current year to the next year in terms of preparing for rate case information, and we don't have them calculate the -- the calculation is for the total pension expense, but we don't ask them to perform a reconciliation on those. 

MS. HELT:  And why is that?

MS. NICHOLSON:  Because it would cost us additional money.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.  Board Staff has no further questions with respect to pension plan expenses.  If I can ask any of the other parties if they would like to ask questions?  Mr. Wightman?

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Thank you.  Just if I could ask one that I didn't submit to you, it's based on the update.  Could you confirm on the Exhibit TC-2, page 5, under "OM&A pension expense" you say:

"OM&A pension expense for 2010 is now projected to total 13.9 million, some 2.6 million higher than the budget.  It's the result of --"
You say:

"-- the higher discount rate."

Should that not be the lower discount rate? 

MS. NICHOLSON:  Yes, you are correct.  The discount rate did fall to 5.8 percent.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Thank you.  And one other thing with respect to the update.  There was another exhibit filed with the update that was a letter from the Minister.  Should this have an exhibit number?

MS. HELT:  I'm sorry, if you can just repeat the question?  I was just discussing something with Board Staff.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Yes, Maureen.  The ISEO also submitted with the financial update, they submitted a letter from the Minister, dated November 16th, 2009.  I was just asking if that should have an exhibit number, also.

MS. HELT:  Yes, that's quite correct.  If we can mark that letter Exhibit TC-3?  Thank you.
EXHIBIT NO. TC.3:  LETTER FROM THE MINISTER, DATED NOVEMBER 16TH, 2009.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  With respect to VECC's question on the pension plan expenses, I am not sure if the little discussion that you had with Staff covered our question 2, which was based on the business plan, page 14, B1 -- B,  tab 1, schedule 1.  And I was asking for an explanation of the drivers of about a 50 percent increase in pension expenses over the period 2010 to 2011, and asked for a high-level explanation of the drivers. 

MS. NICHOLSON:  I do believe I did answer that with the Board questions.  It is those three components that drive the changes in business -- or in pension expense; the expected developments, the fund performance and the change in discount rate.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  Our question 3 is -- the reference is page 15 of the business plan, and it's about -- it's an acronym, SERP, or S-E-R-P?  Is it pronounced SERP?

MS. NICHOLSON:  We do pronounce it SERP. 

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  So it's an acronym, a real one.  The question 3 from VECC on this topic is:

"Can you confirm that this income was used as an offset to net interest expense?"

MS. NICHOLSON:  Yes, I can. 

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Can you provide the amounts of SERP included in net interest expense in each previous year?

MS. NICHOLSON:  Yes.  In 2008 the SERP investment had a loss of 2.3 million, and in 2009 the actual SERP investment income was $2 million.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Thank you.  Our question number 5:

"Can you confirm that there is no SERP investment income now included in that investment expense?" 

MS. NICHOLSON:  Yes, I can confirm that. 

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  And I think I put question 6 and seven in reverse order, so if I can ask you question 7, there was an accounting change, and is that just a change in presentation with no impact on what we are talking about?

MS. NICHOLSON:  That's correct.  It's simply a change in presentation.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  And what was the purpose of the change in presentation?

MS. NICHOLSON:  The purpose of changing the presentation was so that it would be more in line with the registered pension plan presentation, which does take into account returns on investments, as well we move away from what is currently Generally Accepted Accounting Principles and moving to another form of accounting standards.  Some of those standards are much more stringent in terms of their pension presentation.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Thank you.  Those are all our questions on the pension plan.

MS. HELT:  Are there any other questions for the witnesses with respect to pension plan expenses?  No?  All right, then.

If we can refer, then, to the next matter, dealing with staff compensation?  Board Staff, in their list of questions which they circulated, make reference to another Board proceeding, EB-2009-0096; this was the Hydro One Networks 2010 and 2011 distribution rate application.  Mr. Caputo is just now circulating hard copies of that, so that everyone can refer to the page and the table that we are going to be asking questions related to a particular table on that -- in that document.

So for ease of reference, if we can refer to EB-2009-0096, the relevant pages, as Exhibit TC-4.
EXHIBIT NO. TC.4:  EXCERPTS FROM BOARD PROCEEDING EB-2009-0096.

MS. HELT:  The table on page 15 provides 1999 and 2009 wage scale comparisons for society staff at the Ontario Hydro successor companies, including Hydro One, OPG, Bruce Power and the ISEO.  Similar to last year's fees submission, the top wages for MMP staff at the ISEO are approximately 17 to 18 percent higher than the top wages at Hydro One, OPG and Bruce Power.  The reason for this seems to be that while Hydro One, OPG and Bruce Power have negotiated lower top wages for MMP staff since the restructuring of Ontario Hydro in 1999, the ISEO has retained the same schedule structure that existed in 1999.  The ISEO also indicated in last year's fees case proceeding that when it goes into bargaining, it will "Look at all of the trends happening out there". 

Could you please provide the rationale for the top wages of the ISEO salary scale being 17 to 18 percent above the comparable rates at Hydro One, OPG and Bruce Power?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  These are two different types of systems.  The OPG, Bruce Power and Hydro One approach is one of automatic progressions by step, up to a maximum, and the maximums are, in Hydro One and Bruce Power's case, set at 100 percent of the job.  And for OPG, it's at 103 percent.  Whereas we have retained the system that was previously in place, which was a grid system that goes from 80 percent to 115, with the reference point or the journey person rate at 100.  Very few people, if any, make it up to 100 percent in our system.  Most people, the majority of people, centre towards 100.  

Going into bargaining, we did have a look at the two systems to see the advantages, the pros and cons of both of them.  What we found was two things.  One was that if we took the approach of OPG or Hydro One, for example, and applied that to the IESO staff profile, what we found was that on an annual base the costs were higher using automatic progression than they are using our performance pay system.  That's number one.

Number two is that in the approach that's being used, as I said, the Ontario -- the Hydro One, OPG and Bruce Power, it's automatic progressions.  There's no ability to differentiate between performance. 

Our approach that we have retained allows for differentiation based on performance.  And, from our perspective and our line managers' perspective, that's an important message.  It's an important tool for line managers to use to reinforce performance.

MR. ZACHER:  Can I just interject for one second?  Mr. Van Veghel may have misspoke.  When you said that very few people in the IESO's system reach 100 percent, did you mean to say 115 percent?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Sorry, I meant to say 115 percent, that's correct.  That's correct, yes.  On average, as you will see when we get to question 9, our payout or our standing in terms of reference point at the end of 2009 was 95.5 percent.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.  You indicated in your answer that when you examined the approach of OPG or Hydro One, and if you in fact then took that approach and applied it to the IESO, that the costs would be higher.  Why would that be?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Well, if -- for example, if you look at the approach that Hydro One has, and you look at the lock steps that they have in their system, basically, the first step that has to occur in converting to their system is that people have to be moved to the new step.  

In other words, for example, right now we have people at 82, 83 percent.  In their system, the step would -- those people would be moved to a step which is step at 85.  So there is a one-time adjustment of people to move them on to the new steps.

And we found that depending on which system you used, that can be a cost of anywhere from 0.6 percent to 1.0 percent for a one time.  Then, subsequently, if you look at it going forward in time and you look at the automatic progressions that are built in -- for example, in Hydro One, again, they have 5 percentage points differential, 6 percentage point differentials, 7 percent point differentials in their steps, and people would automatically move along those.  

As the steps get closer to 100, they do get smaller.  They are down to 2 to 3 percent.  So, all of those, factors -- so there are different levels of gradations or steps within a grade to move up.  

And if I -- as I say, if you are looking at somebody who is in the 80 percent to 85 percent range, there is a 5 percent move.  As you get closer to 100, there is the 3 percent adjustment.  When you accumulate those and apply those to our staff profile, what you find is that the annual increases are of the order of 1-1/2 to 2 percent.  They are above 1-1/2 percent.  

Our performance pay article within our collective agreement with the Society is set at 1.5 percent, at a minimum.  And, so, the automatic progressions are above that, and they are not based in such a way where we can reward what we see as performance.  

I hope that that --

MS. HELT:  That does help.  Just to clarify, then, is it the case, then, that the initial costs would appear to be higher, but, as time goes on over the years and as the staff move in terms of their level, be it 86 percent to 100 percent, then it would tend to level out?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Well, what happens is that the progressions for staff who are at the lower end are significant steps.  And that's as the staff moves through, it would level out towards 100.  But the other thing that's happening at the same time is that we and the other successors all have significant people who are ready to retire, and those people who are retiring tend to be at the more senior end of that scale.  And as you bring in new people, they tend to come in at the lower end.  

So the trend would, therefore, say that even if at this point it's costing you more, over the foreseeable future that will be aggravated to some extent by the fact that the trend would be towards people coming in at the lower level.

MS. HELT:  Has the IESO considered or initiated any measures that would reduce or eliminate the above-noted gap so that the IESO's top salary bands are in line with Hydro One, OPG or Bruce Power?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  As I mentioned before, we are in a position where we have a significant number of people who are eligible to retire.  About 25 percent of our staff are eligible to retire, and, as such, in terms of looking into the future, as I explained before, we anticipate that we will start to get staff coming in at a more junior level.

And the trend that we referred to last year and that you will see when we get to question 9, in terms of the downward trend in the reference standing, we expect to continue.  It's below 100 now, and we expect it to continue to be below 100 and possibly move down further, depending on the timing of people retiring and new people being resourced into those positions.

MS. HELT:  So other than the fact that you do have a large percentage of staff that is in that retirement age band, there are no other measures, then, that the IESO is taking at this time?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Not at this time.  We feel that being able to reward based on performance is a significant tool in helping us towards efficiency and effectiveness in the workplace.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.  Now we are at question 9.  If the IESO could provide a table similar to the table in reference 2, which is the Exhibit TC.4, but showing the average wages for each organization in each category, rather than maximum wages?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  We have provided a table and -- we have provided the table in terms of our own cost, our own average costs.  I am afraid we do not have access to the average wages of the other companies.  We don't know what their profile looks like.  The best that we could do at our end is fit the profiles to -- for the IESO.  But you will see that the standing in terms of -- in relation to the reference point has been falling, that we are, as of the end of 2009, almost 5 percent below the 100 percent reference point.

MS. HELT:  If we could just have this table marked as TC Exhibit -- or Exhibit TC-5?
EXHIBIT NO. TC.5:  TABLE OF AVERAGE WAGE COSTS.

MR. CAPUTO:  You mentioned that you were not able to get the information -- the comparable information from the other companies.  Is there any reason you couldn't get that if we wanted to see it?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Well, the successor companies, they are independent companies and they don't share that type of information on the average wages of what they actually pay people.  We have their salary schedules; those are public information and we have that, but the amounts that are actually paid to people, that's confidential information and --

MR. CAPUTO:  No.  We are not taking about a listing of individuals, but just overall averages in the bands. 

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Again, that's not an item that's shared between the successors.

MR. CAPUTO:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  Could you please explain any significant differences between this table, TC-5, and the table on page 15 of Exhibit TC-4? 

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Again, as I explained last year, on the exhibit on TC-4, what we've got in this exhibit is the top ends of the schedules.  In 1999 everybody was on a common approach and schedule, and they had -- they all had the same performance pay plan, and the rating that's given here is the 115 percent of that schedule.

In 2009, for Hydro One, OPG and Bruce Power, well, first of all for Bruce Power and Hydro One, their maximums are now at 100 percent for people who are below 100.  And at OPG it's 103 percent, whereas ours is from 115 to 115.

If you were to compare and normalize, so to speak, or standardize and look at the 100 percent, the journeyperson-type rate between 1999 and 2009, you will find that the percentages are quite comparable.  They are all in the mid -- in the lower to mid-30 percents.  

MS. HELT:  Thank you.  

MR. CAPUTO:  Seeing that you are not able to get the information from Hydro One and OPG, how would you know that -- how IESO wages compare to those organizations if you -- if we only know the upper bands?  Do we -- I think you have indicated at some point that, you know, they are probably in line, but yet we don't know what they are other than just the -- the upper end.

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Well, what we do know is, for example, given the way that their schedules are published and so forth, what their 100 percent level is.  We know our 100 percent level is.  We can do those comparisons.  In terms of what their staff profile looks like and what they actually pay their people versus our profile and what we pay our people, that we can't compare, because I don't know what their -- what their actual staff profile looks like.  I -- I don't have that information in terms of being able to compare.

MR. CAPUTO:  Well, let's just pick one here.  For example, MP6, the average -- 

MS. HELT:  Just to clarify -- 

MR. CAPUTO:  The average standing at the IESO is 104.7 percent.


MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Right.


MR. CAPUTO:  Now, that couldn't be the case at Hydro One, for example --


MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Well --


MR. CAPUTO:  -- because it doesn't go above 100 percent.

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Well, that's not true, because when at OPG, for example, when they introduced the program, there were people who were above 100 percent.  They were green circled and they still are.  What is meant by green circling is that those people -- for example, somebody who was at 108 percent, for example -- would continue to be paid at 108 percent and would receive the salary schedule adjustments, et cetera.  So they are -- they are still there.

MR. CAPUTO:  But these are sort of grandfathered cases. 

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  That's correct. 

MR. CAPUTO:  There wouldn't be any new ones moving up to that level, yet there could be at the IESO. 

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  That is correct.  That is correct.  But as I tried to explain before, if you look at the steps that are involved and the magnitude of the steps for the people who are below 100, and you apply them to -- well, we applied them to our profile to have a look at it, the annual adjustments for that group as a result is higher than the annual adjustment that is part of our negotiated settlement for performance pay.

MR. ZACHER:  Can I just add something to clarify, because I am not sure that this is getting across?  But, you know, Mr. Van Veghel has said that having a performance-based system as opposed to a lock-step system is something that's important in terms of incenting employee performance, and that the IESO has determined that overall their costs would be higher if they were to move to a lock-step system.  And one of the reasons for that, and this is -- I am not sure this is getting across, is that in addition to IESO management's discretion to award -- to increase salary based on performance, there are some practical limitations, which is that there is a pool of money that is available each year to do that, and that's not -- that's a finite pool.  Okay?  So there are some practical upper boundaries.

MS. HELT:  That completes Board Staff's questions with respect to staff compensation.  Mr. Wightman?

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Thank you.
Questions by Mr. Wightman:


MR. WIGHTMAN:  I guess this would, for VECC, be questions 8 to 13 that we submitted.  Can you confirm -- question 8 -- that the staffing levels on page 15 of your business plan, are those the entire IESO complement in terms of FTEs?

MS. NICHOLSON:  For 2010, '11 and '12, that is correct.  Those numbers are actually budgeted positions for year end, but within the business planning process we do not take into -- a staff change rate throughout the year.  So for the whole of 2010, we would have budgeted at 448 positions, the same as 418 for 2011 and '12. 

The one difference that I would point out is the 460 is also a budgeted year end number and it is not an FTE number for 2009. Sorry, for 2009, the 460 is a budgeted year end number, not an FTE.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Would you have the FTE for 2009?

MS. NICHOLSON:  I don't.  Unfortunately, when we do the business plan, we don't go back and recalculate an FTE.  The only reason I can say that '10 through '12 are FTEs is because there is no adjustment in the numbers for changing in staff numbers.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  Can I ask you this, though?  There is quite a decline from the 460, which isn't the right number for comparison.

MS. NICHOLSON:  It's a year end budget number.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Yes.  Okay.  Do you have any idea, if you did an FTE, what it would be for 2009?  Any idea?

MS. NICHOLSON:  In terms of an actual FTE at the end of 2009?

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Yes.

MS. NICHOLSON:  The actual FTEs at the end of 2009 were in the 425, 423 range.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay, thank you.  I guess there is a page here.

MS. HELT:  Yes, if we could mark the document produced by the IESO with respect to written responses to questions raised by the OEB and by VECC as Exhibit TC.6.
EXHIBIT NO. TC.6:  ANSWERS BY IESO TO INTERROGATORIES OF OEB AND VECC.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay, then.  Thank you.  Question 9, can you confirm that the staff costs in the table on page 10 of B, tab 3, schedule 1, it's all compensation except for pension costs?  Is that everything but pension costs?

MS. NICHOLSON:  The staff costs on page 10 of 20 of that exhibit are the OM&A staff costs, so they are inclusive of all staff costs that work on OM&A program.  They would exclude things like capitalized staff cost, smart metering staff cost and customer education staff cost.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay, thank you.  And question 10 I believe you have answered on Exhibit TC.6.

MS. NICHOLSON:  Yes.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  And question 11, the numbers are here.  And, I apologize, I said include a variance explanation.  I should have said for significant year-to-year changes.  I should have had the word "significant".  

Do you have any comments about the numbers that you show, the costs per FTE on TC.6 where you have question 11?  You seem to be going up by about 14 percent or so from 2009 to 2012.  Do you have any comment with respect to that?

MS. NICHOLSON:  I did do the math in this calculation, but, as I explained, the 2009 numbers aren't true TFE numbers.  But I did want to provide the math back that we reconciled with the numbers that you had in front of you.  

The 2009 through 2012 changes are changes for assumed escalation, for the large part. So if you look year over year, there will be a rough 3 percent change.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Thank you.  And would you have the same comment with respect to your response to question 12 which is on TC.6?

MS. NICHOLSON:  Yes, I would.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  I think the last question VECC has on this refers to the employee future benefits other than pension, and that's page 21 of your business plan.  

Can you sort of let us know why there is such a big increase from 46.5 million in 2008 to 62.9, and what's in there and why it's going up so much?

MS. NICHOLSON:  Yes, I can.  This is what we refer to as OPEP, other post-employment benefits.  So it is the benefits that our retirees will receive at the point of retiring.  We expense in the current year what those future costs will be.  Again, this is an actuarial calculation that is effected back to net present value through discount rates. 

If I could actually turn your attention to page 31, which is within the business plan, which is our cash flow statement, in the first section under "Operating Activities", you will see payment of employee future benefits, and those numbers run -- well, for 2010 it's about $2 million.

That's the actual cash expense of paying out those post employment benefits as opposed to the accrual that you are seeing on the balance sheet, which is our -- it's our future liability to meet those obligations.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Oh, thank you.  I think that's -- those are all our questions on this issue.

MS. NICHOLSON:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  Are there any further questions with respect to staff compensation?  All right, then, given the time, I would normally suggest a break.  However, since there is only one more set of -- one more matter for this witness panel, I would put forward the idea that we proceed with this, and then take a break, if that's all right with everybody.  

All right.  Then if we can deal with questions related to asset-backed commercial paper investments.

MR. CAPUTO:  Our next set of questions relate to asset-backed commercial paper, or ABCP investments.  The references for these questions are as follows.  The first one is Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, which is the IESO's business plan, pages 11 to 13.  

The second reference is Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1, also the business plan, on pages 2 to 3, and the third reference is Exhibit B, tab 6, schedule 1.  

Based on the prefiled evidence, prior to the liquidity crisis in 2007, the IESO invested in certain ABCP notes.  This included 23.1 million in real-time market investments, 1.4 million in corporate investments and 35 million in transmission rights market investments. 

Based on the evidence, the expected value of these investments has steadily since the liquidity crisis in 2007.  The value of the real-time market ABCP investments has an impact on the market-related interest income.  As a result, the IESO is not projecting to recognize any market-related interest income in 2010 to 2012, as well as in 2009.  

My first question with respect to this is for the IESO to provide a summary showing the market value of the ABCP investments for 2008 and 2009 and what is expected for year end 2010.  We had provided a table to complete.  Are you able to provide us with that table now or -- I guess perhaps it's in the table that's already provided.  

Okay, I notice that transmission rights aren't included here.  Can you explain why that has been excluded?

MS. NICHOLSON:  Yes, we didn't include the transmission rights information.  The transmission rights does not impact on the IESO's usage fee.  That account is held separate and whole, and is not part of the usage fee.

MR. CAPUTO:  But would the Ontario ratepayers still be responsible for any losses that would occur in this area? 

MS. NICHOLSON:  No, they would not.

MR. CAPUTO:  It would have no impact?  Okay.  The next question is:  What impact did the reduction in the market value of the real-time market, incorporate ABCP investment, have on the proposed 2010 fees?

MS. NICHOLSON:  At this point in time, the estimated value of those real-time market investments is at 46 percent.  If we take the estimated loss on those investments and offset those against other types of investment income that have been earned on the real-time -- in the real-time market account, that account would still be showing in a deficit position, and hence the IESO has not recognized and does not plan to recognize any market-related investment income in their usage fee application.  

MR. CAPUTO:  But there was a reduction in the expected value of the ABCP investments going from 2008 to 2009 and -- so are you saying that that reduction had no impact on what the -- on what the proposed 2010 fee is?

MS. NICHOLSON:  All things being held equal, if there was not an estimated decline in the fair value of those ABCP, then the expected return that the IESO would have had on its market-related investment income would be about $300,000, given the capital market situation that we are in now.

MR. CAPUTO:  Okay.  I notice in last year's fees case, there were -- there was market-related interest income expected.  I believe the values were 3.6 million for 2009, 4.3 for 2010 and 4.3 for 2011.  These have all gone to zero now; is that right?

MS. NICHOLSON:  That is correct.  At that point in time that the last year's business plan was prepared, the estimated value on the investments was assumed to be higher, and that we would be receiving market investment --market-related investment income into the IESO.

MR. CAPUTO:  So even though we're not recognizing that interest income, you are saying that this has not impacted on the calculation of the fee for 2010? 

MS. NICHOLSON:  That's correct, because at this point in time, when we redo the valuation, many -- many things have changed.  And as we take our total expected costs now divided by the market demand, our fee would remain flat at the .822.

MR. ZACHER:  Just to clarify, I mean, think you are right that all things being equal, if there was market-related investment income, a positive amount, that would be credited towards the revenue requirement and the fee, and so it would be lower.  I think what Ms. Nicholson is saying -- and she can correct me if I am wrong -- is that there's other factors that have counterbalanced that, but you are correct that under the market rules, if there is market-related investment income at the end of the year, that amount does get credited to the revenue requirement and to the fee.

MS. NICHOLSON:  That's correct.  And as I stated earlier, with all things being equal and given the current capital market, we would have expected that market-related investment to be about $300,000 for 2010.

MR. CAPUTO:  Does that mean, then, that if -- if the difference wasn't made up by other factors, there would -- there would have been a change in -- in the calculated fee for 2010?

MS. NICHOLSON:  If you remove the impact of ABCP and had other market-related investment income in 2010, given how much the interest rates have fallen since the 2009 business plan was calculated, that's where we are getting the $300,000 from.  Am I not --

MR. ZACHER:  Just -- I think there is two factors that determine what the market-related interest income will be.  One is the interest on all non-ABCP investments, and I think what Ms. Nicholson is saying is because of a decline in interest rates since the previous business plan, that is going to be substantially less.  And then the other factor that determines market-related investment income is the extent of the projected impairment of the ABCP investments.  And in that regard, as well, there has been a forecast increased impairment as compared to last year.

MR. CAPUTO:  I can understand how other factors might have compensated for a reduction in the ABCP investments, but still, if we have in one case 4.3 million shown as market-related interest, and we just make that zero, bring it from 4.3 to zero, and ignoring everything else, wouldn't that cause a change in the calculation of the fee?

MS. NICHOLSON:  Yes, all other things being -- 

MR. CAPUTO:  See, we are just trying to get at what impact would the reduction in ABCP have on the fee calculation.

MS. NICHOLSON:  All other things being equal, Robert, if -- and that was still the forecast of the $4.3 million and everything from last year's business plan was still equal for 2010, for this year, you are correct.  That would have had an impact on the fee.

MR. ZACHER:  But just to be clear, the $4.3 million, the reduction of that to zero is not wholly attributable to the forecast increased impairment of ABCP investments.  Part of that is also because the interest that was projected on other investments was a lot higher last year because interest rates were higher, so it's not all just ABCP-related; it's just a natural reflection of what's happened in capital markets.

MR. CAPUTO:  Thanks for clarifying that.  Just one other item on this subject.  Could you explain the statement that only accumulated investment incomes and not losses are recognized in the IESO results on an annual basis?

MS. NICHOLSON:  Yes.  As per the market rules in terms of the settlement accounts, only interest that is earned and is not still under dispute can be recognized as market-related investment income into the IESO.  If I could turn your attention to Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1, page 3 of 20, this may help clarify how we're actually calculating what we believe the deficit to be at this point in time.  These numbers, although they were listed as projected, actually came in to be very close to being actual numbers for our year end 2009.  

So within this table, you will see that there is investment income in the market-related accounts that is not related to ABCP, as well as there are ABCP investment income in 2009, as we have started to receive some principal repayments on that.

However, the estimated loss on the ABCP at this point in time remains at the $12.5 million, and the closing balance in the account is a negative.  

Under the market rules, it is only when that closing balance is a positive and there is no other possible claims on that money is the IESO allowed to bring that money into our corporate accounts and offset our fee.

MR. CAPUTO:  So if investment losses are not recognized, could you comment on what impact investment losses would ultimately have on the ratepayers of Ontario if they would have an impact?

MS. NICHOLSON:  At a high level, if you have investment income and it's a positive amount, we are able to use that to offset our fee.  If we don't have investment income, we don't have that offset.

MR. CAPUTO:  So what happens to the loss?  Isn't it a liability that has to be made up at some point?

MS. NICHOLSON:  We are talking about the real-time market accounts.  They are held on the market side of the business and outside of the corporation.  

As this exhibit shows on page 3, we are keeping a running tab of that account and where that investment income position sits, and we will continue to do so until that position changes to a positive position and we are then, again, able to recognize market-related interest income.

MR. ZACHER:  Just to clarify, by not recognizing market-related interest income, you are effectively recognizing the loss in the ABCP investment.  So in that table, it shows a projected loss right now of $12.5 million.  The interest on other investments since the ABCP loss - I will say it that way - has not yet reached $12.5 million, and so until it does, you can't start to recognize interest, market-related interest, that would be credited towards the revenue requirement and the fee. 

So it is being recognized.  It's being recognized because there is no interest being credited until that amount is offset or exceeded.  And, I mean, that $12.5 million loss that's projected right there, again, it's a projection.  

So the restructured ABCP notes that have now been issued, there is a secondary market developing, and at some point in time there will be an opportunity to sell those notes, and the $12.5 million may be less or it might be more.

MR. CAPUTO:  Just to clarify that, then, assuming -- what if the ABCP investments were to have zero value?  What impact would that have on the IESO's calculation of revenue requirements and fees?

MR. ZACHER:  It would have the same.  It's just that the $12.5 million would be higher, so it would be $23.1 million.  There is no expectation that that would be the case, but it would be treated the same way.

MR. CAPUTO:  So if and when that does happen, it wouldn't have an immediate impact on the IESO's revenue requirements?

MR. ZACHER:  It does have an impact every year, because every year the market-related investment income of other investments is not carried over and credited towards the revenue requirement and the fee.  

So it can't get carried over and credited until the cumulative amount of that other market-related investment income offsets the projected or the actual loss.  The actual loss, we will know that when the investments are liquidated, but right now it's just measured as against a projected number.  

But to be clear, there is no expectation that it will go to zero or anywhere near zero.

MR. CAPUTO:  Thanks for that explanation.  That's my last question on that set.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  I think Mr. Caputo's questions covered VECC's questions 15 and 16 on this.  Question 14 on the ABCP, do you have any view on what you will actually get on the dollar for these ABCP investments?  

You have said you don't think it will be zero, but do you have any notion when and what they will be worth?

MS. NICHOLSON:  As we described in our business plan, we expect that in the longer term these will be worth more than they will be in the shorter term, once the secondary markets are established and running.  

Our -- in the table that we have provided in response to the OEB's question for the market-related or the real-time market investment income, we have got an estimated value of 46 percent, and that would be our best estimate at this point in time.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Thank you.  I wonder, because I think it's related, if I could ask you with VECC's 22, which was just about how did you calculate the interest on the debt -- and you have provided it on TC.6.  

The only question I have is:  What were the sources, and how did you calculate the average annual interest rate on VECC 22?

MS. NICHOLSON:  Just give me a second.  If you could refer to the business plan, which is Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1 on page 17, at the time the business plan was drafted, we knew that we had refinanced a long-term note payable with the OEFC, and we also had arrangements in place for a credit facility for the corporation.  

In the table provided in the exhibit for VECC's question number 22, what we have done is we have shown the calculations on paying the old OEFC note payable, which was due May 1st and had an interest rate of 7.9 percent, and then -- so that was for the first four months of 2009.  

For the last four months -- or the last eight months of 2009 and thereafter, we have shown what we expect the average debt requirement to be to operate the corporate side of the business, plus the interest rates -- it's a weighted average interest rate between what our OEFC interest is, which is a floating rate repayable every three months and what the credit facility would charge us.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  So my only question is:  Where did you get the projections for the latter or...

MS. NICHOLSON:  For the interest rates?

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Yes.

MS. NICHOLSON:  The interest rates were -- I am not even...   The interest rates were calculated based on our best estimate on what the combined weighted average would be for those.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  Did you have any source, I mean, Bank of Canada or anything like that, or whatever?  That's all.

MS. NICHOLSON:  Yes, they were based on BAs plus expected floating rates.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  And they were IESO's own estimates?

MS. NICHOLSON:  I am afraid I don't know.  I don't know what the source of the information was.  I can get it for you.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Yes.  Just to clean that up, I would like that.

MS. NICHOLSON:  Sure.

MS. HELT:  If we can note that as undertaking TCU.1.

MS. NICHOLSON:  I will probably be able to get that answer today.

MS. HELT:  Thank you, then.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Those are all our questions.  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  Are there any other questions with respect to ABCP investments?  Mr. Zacher, I am not sure if this witness panel is going to be answering questions with respect to any of the other matters.

MR. ZACHER:  They are, for issue 2, capital expenditures and EDAC.  We can continue on, or we are happy to take a break, whatever.

MS. HELT:  Maybe we should take a 15-minute break now, then.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 11:04 a.m. 

--- Upon resuming at 11:23 a.m. 

MS. HELT:  If we could just go back to the questions with respect to staffing cost, I understand that -- from Ms. Grice, here on behalf of AMPCO, that she did have, in fact, a few questions that she would like to ask with respect to this subject matter.

MR. ZACHER:  That's not a problem, and -- but before we do that, I just want to correct something.  I misspoke earlier when I referenced the pool about incentive pay being a finite pool.  And so rather than me trying to clarify it and confuse it further, I am just going to allow Mr. Van Veghel to clarify and correct my statement, if that's okay.

MS. HELT:  Certainly.  Thank you.

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  With respect to the performance pay for the society, the wording in the collective agreement is that we would be paying out 1.5 percent, a minimum of 1.5 percent, and our approach has been to pay out at least 1.5 percent or somewhat above.  Usually it's very marginal above, but it is a finite amount in that sense, that it's a pool used to distribute, based on performance, and normally it is at the 1.5 or slightly above that.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.  Ms. Grice?

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.
Questions by Ms. Grice:  


MS. GRICE:  AMPCO has just a couple of sets of questions on the staff costs, and we are asking them just to better understand the cost savings and what the impact of reallocating resources and reducing resources is.

So if I can turn to reference Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1, page 4, and under the heading "Staff costs" it says that:

"Staff costs are expected to be 1.7 million lower than budgeted.  This is due to lower post-employment benefits, excluding pension costs of 0.4 million and further reductions, 1.3 million from hiring lags and management's successful attainment of cost savings consistent with Ministry targets."

So our first question is if you could please explain the reason for the hiring lags. 

MR. INGMAN:  If it's okay with you, Ms. Grice, I would like to maybe just take the three questions together and maybe provide some context around those, if that's okay. 

Back in late 2008, the government announced some restraint measures.  In those, they -- in the announcement, they stated that they were leading by example in these uncertain times.  Within that -- within the communication, they had explained that as part of this, they were going to limit MPP salaries' increase to 1.5 percent; senior management of the OPS have salary increases limited to 1.5 percent as well.  And government strongly encouraged its partners in the broader public service to also limit pay increases to employees earning over $150,000 to that 1.5 percent, and at the same time they were freezing full-time equivalent employees of the OPS to their current numbers, which I think were in the order of 68,000.As a result of that, the IESO determined that it was appropriate for us to align with those measures.  

So when we talk about hiring lags, they are not necessarily all a delay in being able the hire and fill positions.  Some of them were conscious choices in light of this -- I won't call it a direction, but this -- certainly under the full umbrella of restraint measures, that it would be appropriate to not fill some of those, or certainly consider whether we needed to fill those positions in light of that.

Some of it is also was a result of work that we had anticipated in the previous year just not panning out as expected, as workload not being there in particular areas.

So it was really three things: delays in hiring, also just revisiting do we need to fill this in light of these restraint measures, and also a result of work not showing up.

So in terms of some of the lags that occurred and, you know, delays in hiring, those occurred in a number of areas.  I can't be too specific, but they occurred in a couple of specific projects: SME, the smart metering entity or the smart meter implementation project, and the EDAC, which is the enhanced day-ahead commitment project.  And those hiring lags were just managed within the projects as we would in any hiring situation on a capital project. And some occurred also in lines of business, and the impacts of those were managed by their line managers, just to ensure that they -- that those vacancies did not impact the priority work in those particular business units.

And I believe that you've asked also about -- no, hopefully that's answered all of your questions. 

MS. GRICE:  Yeah.  The only additional thing was under part (d) of my question, I had asked about the -- the actual staff costs for 2008 and 2009, and I see that that's been provided under Exhibit TC-6.


MR. INGMAN:  Yeah.  Obviously, it's not possible to quantify the savings as a result, because you don't know what salary increases might have been or what staffing levels exactly would have been if you hadn't taken these measures, but obviously from that table, it shows that the actual and audited staff costs for 2009 were 62 million versus a budget of 64.5 million.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And I just have a question about the -- at the time of the appellation, it was expected that the staff costs would be 1.7 million lower, and you have accounted for that here with the 0.4 and the 1.3.  But now it's an additional 0.8 million lower for staff costs, and I wondered if you could explain the reason for that.

MR. INGMAN:  As we entered into the business planning process for 2010, we -- you know, management did make some conscious decisions not to hire up to those expected staffing levels.  So that -- that broadly explains that additional variance.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Do you have information on what business units were affected for that additional 0.8? 

MR. INGMAN:  I don't have specific details of that.  That would have occurred in a number of different business units.  A little later I am going to talk a little bit more about the business unit realignment or the organizational realignment, and hopefully I can probably address at a broad level your questions there.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  And so our next set of questions relate to that, and that's Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1, page 11.  And again, it's under the heading of "Staff costs". And it says that:

"The IESO budgeted staff cost will be reduced with resources reallocated to areas of increased focus, reflecting changes in the electricity sector.  The recent IESO organizational realignment paves the way for this new approach.  Over the business planning period, 12 staff positions will be removed across the business in 2010, with a further 30 positions removed in 2011."

And I had a series of questions there, and I take it you will do a sort of a broad response on that?  Thank you.  

MR. INGMAN:  If that's appropriate, if that's okay, I will.  So I was going to say rather than specific to a specific staff position, I thought it might be more helpful and useful to speak to the alignment functions of the new organization more broadly.

Mr. Gopi is just handing out copies of two organizations -- organizational structures, and we've characterized them as IESO organization pre-reorganization -- I apologize myself for that moniker -- and the current IESO organization.  So if you'd like --

MS. HELT:  If we could mark, then, the IESO organization pre-reorganization chart as Exhibit TC-7, and the current IESO organization chart as Exhibit TC-8?
EXHIBIT NO. TC.7:  IESO ORGANIZATION PRE-REORGANIZATION CHART.
EXHIBIT NO. TC.8:  CURRENT IESO ORGANIZATION CHART.

MR. INGMAN:  Thank you.  Hopefully everybody's received their copies?  Okay.  So to answer maybe the specific question that you had initially -- it was how many staff -- total staff positions are budgeted for 2010 and 2011 -- we will get that one answered.  As we indicate within the business plan, those numbers are 448 in 2010 and 418 in 2011.  But as I say, I want to get to, more generally, the organizational structure.

As you can see from the green organization chart identifying the current IESO organization, the organization has been realigned to be built around four pillars, as we call them, and that's how we have characterized them as well within our business plan for this year.  And those pillars are: today, tomorrow, internal and external.  And maybe I will just take a second just to describe each of those pillars quickly.

The operations pillar concentrates on really all aspects of today's electricity market and system operations, and that consists of functions of system operations, so the control room.  Market forecasts and integration really are outage planning function, training and emergency preparedness, and also the settlement function, so pretty much the traditional things you'd expect to see within the real-time operations of our business.

Resource integration, however, brings together all aspects - so that's our tomorrow pillar - brings together all aspects of grid and market change that we anticipate to see, primarily as a result of the Green Energy Act, and also the changing resource mix that we expect to see over the coming years.  And that's put under a single senior VP.

That -- functions that have been brought together under that are planning and assessment functions, and, sorry -- yes, which just in layperson's term is dealing with standards and compliance, transmission and generation adequacy assessment, forecasts, longer-term forecasts, and market facilitation.  So that's things like market entry and things like that. 

Also under resource integration are the market evolutionary functions of market analysis and market development, and also our corporate planning function, as well.  And as you can see from the chart, EDAC, the enhanced day ahead commitment project, has a home within that, and has sort of executive leadership from the VP of resource integration, as well. 

The organizational development, so that's the next one moving left to right across the chart here, really brings together all of the enabling functions within the IESO, so essentially the people, the tools, the processes.  So they are things that get things done.  

So that, more specifically, includes things like business process review and design, enterprise risk management, corporate performance measures, human resources, employee training and development, and the larger function of information technology and infrastructure. 

And last but not least, in terms of the major pillars, we have corporate relations, which really tries to bring together all the aspects of external interactions that we have and relationships with customers, government regulators and the media.  So it brings together all of our external customer focus groups within one business unit.  

And those are the traditional pillars, again, of communications, customer and stakeholder engagement, as well as government and regulatory affairs.  

We also have two full-time equivalents allocated to the customer education program, as well.  Those are identified separately, because they don't have an impact directly on our fee, so that's why we have identified those separately.

And then we have three supporting functions, market assessment, compliance division - obviously responsible for market monitoring and compliance - legal and financial services, as well.  

So we think this realignment really does support our need to be flexible in terms of allocating resources within those business units in order to meet the priority needs.  So when you speak about particular resources, that really is a moving -- there are many moving parts there, but we think by bringing these structural groups together, having very specific focusses on today's market, integrating the power system of tomorrow and the needs for tomorrow, internal improvements in terms of the enabling functions and the external communication and interactions, we think we provide each of those business unit leads sufficient flexibility to move resources around to meet those priorities as they change over the coming year and years to come. 

So when we are talking about drivers, I think I have effectively covered it in terms of some of -- the largest driver of change is obviously the Green Energy Act - I don't think that's a surprise to anybody - and the focus of greening the electricity system.  We believe that this realignment best supports best positions to move forward on those priority areas.

Also, we have recognized that the government today is the primary driver for major change within the energy sector, within specifically the electricity sector, and obviously we need to be more informed of what government policy is, government thinking is, and obviously we want to have an ability to help shape that and engage in those discussions and relationships with the government.  So we have put some increased focus there.  

And so some of the functions to support this, more specifically, in addition to meeting our core responsibilities of managing the electricity market and the system operations, we will also be looking at things like wind forecasting, connection assessments, putting more efforts there, market entry to increase visibility and better generation, and also in government relations.

On some of those more forward-looking things, I leave that to Darren Finkbeiner, who will be on our second panel, to talk some more about the specifics around that.  And, as I said before, it's not really possible to identify some of those specific positions that have been affected or will be removed within those trends that we spoke to before, 460 going to 448, going to 418.  

Obviously, the IESO management is continuing to see where those resources are best utilized within the business, what the skills are that are required, that sort of thing, and we are planning on taking the opportunities of normal attrition to help there.  So we are not looking for any active removal of staff, to use the terms in your question, but more through attrition.

And as I alluded to before, we are taking a close look at whether those positions that have been vacated need to be backfilled in their existing form or whether we can look for different efficiencies or different alignments. 

Specifically, as we have identified in the business plan, we are looking at an attrition rate of about 20 regular staff per year.  So we believe that provides us appropriate flexibility to manage our resources going forward. 

So, hopefully, with that very long-winded answer, I covered pretty much everything you were looking for there.

MS. GRICE:  I think you did.  Thanks very much.

MR. INGMAN:  No problem at all.

MS. HELT:  If we could then move to the issue of capital spending, Mr. Caputo will ask questions for Board Staff.
Questions by Mr. Caputo:

MR. CAPUTO:  Our next set of questions relate to capital spending, and I have two references that relate to the section.  The first reference is Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1, pages 7 and 8, and the second reference is Exhibit B, tab 5, schedule 1.

These references refer to the enhanced day ahead commitment, or EDAC for short, which was approved as part of last year's fee submission.  At the time of approval, the capital expenditures for EDAC were estimated to be 15.9 million in 2009 and 10.6 million in 2010, for a total estimated cost of 26.5 million.

The IESO has revised its schedule and cash flows such that now the expectations are 6.4 million to be spent in 2009, 13.5 million to be spent in 2010 and 6.6 million are expected to be spent in 2011.  

Board Staff understands that the original $26.5-million estimate includes a contingency amount of 4.6 million.  Based on the evidence, the project costs and the timing remain somewhat uncertain and depend on the final design.  

It is also indicated that the final design is expected to be largely complete in early 2010.  Board Staff would like to get a better understanding and an update on the finalization of the design and the process for implementation of the EDAC.  

Our first question in this set is for the IESO to provide an update on the status of the EDAC project, including a description of the remaining steps, with expected completion dates and costs for the individual steps.

MS. WRIGHT HILBIG:  Thanks, Robert.  What I would like to do is to perhaps answer that question in three parts.  For the first part, I would like to talk a little bit about the prefiled evidence we provided, which was an update on the progress of the EDAC project.  And, if you will, I would like to then give you an update on the update, because obviously that was filed in November and we are now closer to the end of January.  

And Mr. Gopi is also going to hand out some evidence around your last part of that question, which is really related to where we go from here and the cost and schedule estimates for that.

So if I could start by pointing you to Exhibit B, tab 5, schedule 1, which is our -- entitled "Status of enhanced day-ahead commitment project" and this status update that we provided in November really summarized our progress to date, particularly keying in on the activities from when we last appeared here to talk about EDAC.  It really centres on things such as the fact that our EDAC project was approved by our board in September of 2008, and subsequent to a great deal of consultation that happened after that point, we had a market design, a high-level market design that was approved by our board in February of 2009.  And if you -- I can refer you to the first two pages, which kind of summarize that, those sorts of activities.

At that same time in February, our board also approved the release of capital funds to move forward with a detailed design.  And if you refer to page 3, there is a section titled "Detailed design" and this is the phase that we are currently in.  As you mentioned, Robert, we are finalizing that particular stage to come to our final design.  We expect that stage to be largely completed in February, more likely around mid-February.  And we will -- we are also embarking right now upon the detailed estimates that will give us the information we need to prepare our next release of funds for the next phase.  And the next phase that we are embarking upon is the IT design and build, which is the largest component of our project cost.

So as far as where we are now, subsequent to November, if you do -- if I can point you to the second-last paragraph on page 3, where we talk about some of the aspects of the detailed design, where we were sitting in November, there is a couple of sentences at the end of that paragraph where we talk about as well:

"Some additional work will be required on design aspects of combined cycle gas unit modelling.  This could add some cost and time to this aspect of the project."

And subsequent to providing this prefiled evidence, we did work with our stakeholders through December and January, and specifically on January 7th, we held a meeting with a focus group of combined cycle operators, with a simplified design for combined cycle unit operation and EDAC.  And some of the uncertainty we had listed here in our prefiled evidence has now been resolved.  

We now have a finalized design for our combined cycle operation.  It was endorsed by our stakeholders on January 7th, and we are moving forward with that design.  Formerly, the design we had, had put some pressure on cost and schedule.  That has been largely certainly solidified, as we move into this phase of detailed estimates.  So while we don't have final schedule impact of our combined cycle detailed design, we certainly see a lot less impact on it from the design that we have landed on with our stakeholders.

So as we move into the next phase, I would turn you to the hand-out that Mr. Gopi provided. 

MS. HELT:  Yes, and if I can just interrupt, if we can have that marked as Exhibit TC-9?  It is the written response to OEB question 17.
EXHIBIT NO. TC.9:  WRITTEN RESPONSE TO OEB QUESTION 17.

MS. WRIGHT HILBIG:  Okay.  The last portion of your question, Robert, I believe dealt with the remaining phases of the project?

MR. CAPUTO:  Yes, that's right.  

MS. WRIGHT HILBIG:  And I have provided a table here, where we talk about the remaining phases of the project.  So as we complete detail design, that obviously is not on this table.  But our next phase that we are entering into is the IT design and build.  

And I will point out that there is an error on this page.  If you look under "Description" on IT design and build, I mistakenly put "user acceptance testing" at the bottom of the list of description of tasks in that phase.  And it is actually part of the phase after that, which is user acceptance testing and market trials.  So just to point that error out to people.

So when we look at the phases that are remaining, if I could point you to that table, the IT design and build phase started last November and is expected to continue through January of 2011.  And right now our projected cost within our overall project envelope is 17 million.  As I mentioned, we are undertaking detailed estimates now, which will inform our release of funds for both this phase and the first half of the next phase.  So we will be able to -- mid-year, be able to solidify up some of these costs, but these costs, as stated here, are consistent with our overall project envelope.

The next phase is the user acceptance test and market trials, which is slated in our project -- overall project schedule right now for January 2011 to August 2011, at a capital cost of 4.3 million.

The next phase is what we call transition to service.  That is basically a month or so that we spend at the end of our market trials part of the project, in order to do some clean-up from discoveries found during testing, and a quiet period before we head into actual in-service.  And it's about a million-dollar capital item.

Once EDAC is actually in service, there is another project phase, which is project closure, but that is not a capital phase of the project, so...

MR. CAPUTO:  I guess the total is still 26.5 million, so whatever the difference between the 26.5 and these three numbers on the table would be what's already been spent, is it?

MS. WRIGHT HILBIG:  It would be the detailed design phase, which is still ongoing until, as I said, you know, the next month or so.  It also would be the interest on the project as well.  Right now, our overall project envelope is unchanged at 26 and a half million, including contingency.  

MR. CAPUTO:  So the total for 2010 should add up to 13.5 million, so it would be the 1 million plus the 4.3 plus a portion of the 17?

MS. WRIGHT HILBIG:  If I can refer you back to our business plan -- 

MR. CAPUTO:  Oh, sorry, this is 2011 mainly, yes.  Okay.

MS. WRIGHT HILBIG:  I'm sorry.  Was there a question in there or...

MR. CAPUTO:  No, that's fine.  I guess I --


MS. WRIGHT HILBIG:  Okay.  Thanks.


MR. CAPUTO:  I needed to check something here. 

I guess we will just move on to the -- we will move on to the next question.  Have there been any significant changes in the design philosophy or functionality of EDAC since the Board's approval of the -- in the IESO's 2009 fee submission?

MS. WRIGHT HILBIG:  No, the design and functionality of the deliverables for EDAC remain the same as what was in the business plan last year and brought before the Board. 

MR. CAPUTO:  Could you please comment on the likelihood that the 4.6 million contingency amount included in the original estimate will be required to complete the project?

MS. WRIGHT HILBIG:  I'd be happy to.  If I can refer you again to Exhibit B, tab 5, schedule 1, page 3, you can see that when we do discuss our detail design phase -- which is the phase that we are currently in -- it has been extended from what was brought before the Board last year.  So in this particular phase, we are looking at a likelihood of expending some of the contingency funds that were allocated to that phase.

As we move into the next phase, the IT design and build phase, we are right now working on those estimates, which will give us a better estimate of the likelihood of use of contingency funds for that phase.  And, in fact, that process will continue for each phase as we move forward. 

So right now, we do have some likelihood of contingency fund use for the extension of the detail design phase, but we can't give you any specific answer on the other phases.  The one thing we do know is that as we move into the next phase, which is, as I mentioned, the largest capital cost phase, as you can note on the exhibit passed out, we don't right now see any large need for that contingency funds, but that work is ongoing.  

We are really in the early stages of that process.

MR. CAPUTO:  So it is possible that the end cost could be less than the 26.5 million if some of that contingency isn't required?

MS. WRIGHT HILBIG:  That's correct.

MR. CAPUTO:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  Are there other questions with respect to capital spending?

MR. WIGHTMAN:  I think we have two left.  I think VECC's question 17 was answered in the responses to Mr. Caputo's question.  So there's two questions left, questions 18 and 19.  Question 18 just asks how come the Microsoft licence costs are going from 200,000 to 400,000.

MR. INGMAN:  I can confirm that it predominantly represents an increase in licences.  There are a few projects under way or anticipated over the business planning period which would look to migrate some of those licences from Oracle licensing to Microsoft SQL server.  We think that will result in an overall cost saving, because any of you who are in IT know that Oracle tend to be more expensive licensing.

There is also some upcoming projects which anticipate using a Windows platform, which will therefore increase the number of Windows licences we are looking for.  So predominantly it's an increase in licences.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  The other question, question 19, there are two references, but I guess the first reference B, tab 3, schedule 1, page 17, there are large increases in 2011 and 2012 in other capital expenditures.  And the second, which is the business plan, B, tab 1, schedule 1, pages 26 and 27, shows a listing of possible or other capital expenditures, but there is no estimated costs.  

So I'd like to add one question to this.  Is there any prioritization in these other capital expenditures?  And I am sorry I didn't ask you that before.

MR. INGMAN:  No, it's a valid question, not a problem.  So I will try and answer.  In addition to the first exhibit, pages 23 and 24 of the business plan do actually provide those detailed estimates for each of the projects.  So we have gone with a slightly different structure this year, and that may have thrown you off, but the previous -- prior pages -- sorry, the subsequent pages show the description.  Pages 23 and 24 do actually show the detailed breakdown for all of those other capital projects, as well, so maybe we can turn to that page as we answer the question. 

Your question regarding is it fair to say IESO's plan is to keep that spending fairly consistent, yes, that's fair to say. This does represent the upper limits of the IESO's capital spending capability based on its resources.  In previous years, we have spent a little less than that envelope, but 2006, for instance, we were able to spend around 18.3 million of that.

So as I say, it is an upper end of where we might expect to be in terms of our capacity to spend capital.  Specifically, you asked around:  Is there any prioritization of those other capital projects?  As in previous years, we have the concept of key initiatives and other projects.  

The key initiatives are those high priority projects that we expect to complete on those time frames and within those envelopes over the capital planning period.  The other projects really are other important projects, but lend themselves to more flexibility in terms of costs and schedule.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Thank you.  Those are VECC's questions.

MS. HELT:  Are there any other questions?  Yes, thank you.
Questions by Ms. Grice:

MS. GRICE:  There we go.  Okay, AMPCO has just a couple of questions on capital spending.  One is related to the EDAC project schedule.  I just wondered if Rhonda could comment on the likelihood of meeting the schedule and spending the budget over the planning period, given the delays that have been experienced.

MS. WRIGHT HILBIG:  Sorry, I think I heard two questions there.  If you wouldn't mind stating the first one again?

MS. GRICE:  Yes, it was just to please comment on the likelihood of meeting the schedule and spending the budget.

MS. WRIGHT HILBIG:  Okay.  Certainly our planning methodology, we use a rolling wave planning methodology for bringing our project forward, and when we move into a new phase, we do carry out detailed estimates to ensure that the release of capital is appropriate to what we are planning to do in that phase.  

So from that perspective, where we sit right now, heading into the largest phase of the project, we don't see at this early stage of our estimation process any reason why we would be larger than the overall project estimate of 26.5. 

From a schedule perspective, we are also looking at the aspects of the work that will lead to a detailed project schedule, particularly for this next phase of the project, which includes the IT design and build and the user acceptance testing.

So we don't have an answer that we are going to be -- right now, our stated schedule is September 2011.  We don't have the work completed right now to say whether that will be the exact schedule.  But we don't -- you know, we certainly don't anticipate any large issues with being much off that, but we really have not completed that work right now.  But we will have that work done by April.

And we have shared with our stakeholders, most recently at the technical panel, that we will be updating our project schedule post April.

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.  Now I just have a couple of questions on projects that are not EDAC, but capital expenditures.  My first one is -- the reference is Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1, page 8, and it has to do with the project online limit derivation.  

The application states that the online limit derivation project will be undertaken in several stages over the business planning period for a total projected cost of $6.3 million.  I just wondered if I could get a breakdown of the cost per year or if you can point me in the evidence where that is.  I think I may have missed it.

MR. INGMAN:  Yes.  This is the same page, 23, of the business plan that shows the online limit derivation -- development project, as it's termed here, over the planning horizon.  The project has been actually split into two projects, distinct projects, and the expenditure -- expected expenditure over the planning period under stage 2 -- phase 2, stage 2, is 1.35 for 2010, 1.4 for 2011 and 1.8 for 2012, including the costs spent to date for phase 1, as well.  That totals approximately the 6.3 million as described in the exhibit.  

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  The next question, the reference is Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1, page 9, and it relates to the enrollment automation project.  And the evidence says that: 
"The IESO submits that the 2009 projected variance for the enrollment automation project reflects a shift in timing on project delivery to 2010." 

So we just wanted to better understand what the original project date was, what's the anticipated project date, and then what's the reason for the time -- shift in timing. 

MR. INGMAN:  Not a problem.  And, again, I will answer those together.

MS. GRICE:  Thank you. 

MR. INGMAN:  So the original project as outlined in last year's business plan was expected to be delivered in 2012.  In light of the Green Energy Act, we determined that by rescoping the project we could gain some further benefits, and actually that resulted in some additional scope.  And as a result of the increased scope, we thought it would be best delivered in three distinct phases, so that's what you will see in this year's business plan. 

The first project will develop a new customer data management system that will replace a number of existing disparate repositories that we have within the IESO to collect customer data.  This project was approved back in 2009, and that particular project is expected to be complete by the end of this year, Q4 2010.  That particular one doesn't have any external facing component and no market participant impact.  It's really an internal project, bringing together those repositories.

The remaining two projects will address the handling of customer information and provide a central web interface, which we believe will improve efficiencies for both IESO and staff and market participants.  And although the business plan does show these projects being complete in 2011, that may in fact be a little bit later than that, but that's our planning assumption right now. 

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Just a couple more questions.  The next reference is Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1, page 9, and it relates to the outage management replacement project.  And in the application, the project's been identified in the 2009 capital budget as having been reduced in scope, and we just wanted to better understand what the original scope was, how it was reduced in scope, and what was the implications with staff reallocation as a result of reduced scope. 

MR. INGMAN:  Not a problem at all.  So the original scope identified this as a single project, and it included the replacement of the back-end system, the application that supports this function, and also an improved interface.

So that was the scope of the original project.  And that was originally anticipated for completion in 2012 as a single project.  The IESO has effectively simply split that project into two, so there has been a little reduction in total scope, but the scope of the project that you now see on page 23 of the business plan under the appendix 2, "Capital projects," shows this as two separate projects, one in the key initiatives under "Outage management replacement," and under the stage it describes this as "Outage submission automation" so that's the front end piece.  And then under the other projects on page 24 of that same table, it shows "Outage management replacement" and under the stage it describes that as "Internal systems replaced."

So there is very little, actually, de-scoping.  It's just we thought that some benefits could be gained by delivering the market facing piece ahead of time, and a distinct, separate project, and then work on the back-end systems later, which have less impact on participants. 

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  My next question relates to rights management, and it's just -- we just want to look at what was designated as spending in the last fees case, and I don't think we need to turn that up or anything.  And what is referenced in this application, Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1, page 9 as well.

And in the last fees case, the costs for the project were projected at 0.5 million in 2010 and 0.8 million in 2011, and in this application, that project is no longer listed as a key capital initiative and no spending has been identified.  And we are just wondering why it's not there this year.

MR. INGMAN:  Yeah.  No, it's a very good question.  A significant driver for the rights management project was to enable is to meet our requirements to meet NERC CIP standards, which many of us in the industry have had the challenge of.  But through further review, it was determined that actually was no longer the case; we had actually been able to meet it anyway.  So it took away a strong driver for this fairly significant project.

It was also determined that a number of the functionality and objectives of this particular project would be met by other projects that were already identified as well.  So we actually did remove this project, but elements of it will sort of pop up and the functions of it will pop up in other projects.  But as a particular standalone project, we didn't feel there was need for it any further.

MS. GRICE:  Great.  Thank you.  Let me just see here how many...  I just have just a couple more.  Okay.

The next question is related to the NERC critical infrastructure protection project, and it's working in the same theme as the last question, comparing it to what happened in the last fees application versus this one.  The reference for the project is Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1, page 9, as well.  And in the last IESO application, that project was budgeted for 0.2 million in 2009 and projected 0.2 million in 2010.  In the current application, it's no longer listed as a key initiative, and although money was budgeted in 2009, no capital spending took place.  And we just wanted an explanation as to what happened there as well. 

MR. INGMAN:  Not a problem.  The amount identified in last year's was really a funding provision.  As we were going through the determination of the impact of becoming compliant with the NERC CIP standards, we wanted to identify some funds, should some significant capital investments need to be made to become compliant.  Certainly, through our preparations we determined that actually we were compliant without having to make that capital expenditure, and as a side note, we did just recently pass a NERC CIP audit back in the fall of this year.  So our suspicions were confirmed that we didn't need to make that expenditure.

MS. GRICE:  Great.  Thank you.  My question -- the next question I had, I don't need to ask.

MR. INGMAN:  Okay.

MS. GRICE:  I found the answer; it was in the evidence.  My last question has to do with a statement made on -- at Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1, page 7.  And it's -- the sentence is just after the table:

"Given the ongoing need for reprioritization of capital projects, the IESO does not use the business planning process as a mechanism for capital project approval."

And AMPCO just wanted to get a sense of what happens to trigger a reprioritization of capital projects, just sort of at a high level.


MR. INGMAN:  Yeah.

MS. GRICE:  What sort of things happen, and then the process that you use to rank those priorities and managing -- manage the shifting priorities.

MR. INGMAN:  Absolutely.

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.


MR. INGMAN:  There are a number of factors, obviously, that may mean that we would revisit -- revisit or reprioritize the projects.  The largest today is obviously government policy.  I spoke to it before -- it's the major driver for change in the sector -- and obviously, any resulting legislative change, the Green Energy Act, the introduction of smart meters, smart grid, all being huge drivers to our business, and also just industry developments.

Even if the Green Energy Act didn't come about, we saw a significant shift in the resource mix, that we were seeing a lot more renewables, variable generation.  Also technology advances, whether that be in storage, smart grids, or more internally focussed on our own supporting systems and applications.

So those are, at a high level, some of the drivers, but obviously, there are an a number of other things that could impact.  But I think I have captured the sort of biggies there. And in terms of how we go about the prioritization, we do obviously continually look at that.  These changes don't happen on a nice, tidy schedule, so there a need to continually evaluate this.  But we do have a more formal annual business planning process which formally reviews all of the priorities in light of these various changes that I've mentioned.

The business planning process sets out our objectives and out priorities for the coming year, and identifies those initiatives, both internal operating, maintenance and administration OM&A initiatives, as well as capital initiatives that we would undertake to meet those priority areas. 

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Thanks very much.  

MR. INGMAN:  You're welcome.

MS. HELT:  Are there any further questions with respect to capital spending?

All right, then, if we could move to the next issue, methodology for calculating usage fee?  Oh, I'm sorry, that's right.  If we can cover the smart metering initiative, please?

MR. ZACHER:  We will have to now sort of change over our panels, if that's okay.  So Ms. Nicholson and Mr. Ingman are going to remain on the panel, and they will be joined by Darren Finkbeiner, who is the manager of market development for the IESO, and by Mark Wilson, who is manager of system operations.

So this panel will address the balance of the issues on the issues list.

--- Recess taken at 12:12 p.m.

--- On resuming at 12:16 p.m.
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MS. HELT:  Sorry about that short break.  There is one question from VECC with respect to methodology of usage fee.  I understand it's just a very general question.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Yes, I apologize.  I got mixed up on when I should ask this, because it wasn't about market demand and... 

But question 20, can you just confirm there is no change in methodology in calculating the usage fee?

MR. INGMAN:  We can confirm that.  It's the same methodology we have used since the Board approved it in 2000.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Thank you.  That's it on that.

MR. ZACHER:  Just before we, I guess, formally start with the new panel, Ms. Nicholson I think can clarify or follow up on a question that Mr. Wightman had earlier that -- I am not sure if it was formally made an undertaking or not, but she can address it now.

MS. HELT:  Certainly.  Thank you.

MS. NICHOLSON:  The question had to do with projected interest rates through the business planning period.  I can confirm at this point in time those projections are developed internally by our treasury staff, our treasury manager, who is a CFA, and his staff member is a level 2 CFA, and they are not derived from an external source.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  Just for the purpose of the record, if that was marked as TC undertaking 1, then it has been answered on the record, as well.  Thank you.  

If we can then move to the smart metering initiative issue?

MR. CAPUTO:  Our next set of questions relate to the smart metering or SME initiative.  The references for these questions can be found in Exhibit A, tab 1, schedule 1, page 3, item 6, and also Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, which is the IESO's business plan, pages 8, 28 and 29.  

The evidence indicates that in 2007, the regulation under the Electricity Act designated the IESO as interim SME.  The evidence also indicates that all SME-related costs will be recovered through a separate regulatory mechanism from the IESO usage fee that is charged to wholesale market participants. 

The IESO is therefore not seeking to recover any costs relating to performing its role as the SME in this proceeding.  The IESO further submits that all SME-related costs will be collected and charged separately from all other IESO costs that form part of the revenue requirements for this usage fee.  The evidence also indicates that the IESO will be developing a fee proposal for the SME later in the fall of 2009, at which time SME revenues and costs will be confirmed. 

Now, my first question related to SME is for the IESO to explain how it ensures the costs associated with SME are collected and charged separately from all other IESO costs.

MS. NICHOLSON:  Yes, I can answer that question.  The smart metering costs are collected in our financial system and in our time reporting system through unique charge numbers in the same manner that any other capital project or OM&A project would be charged.  So they are identified uniquely.  So individuals working directly on smart metering activities would record their time in the time system to a smart metering activity, and that is held separately in our accounts.

MR. CAPUTO:  All right, thank you.  Has the IESO developed the fee proposal for the SME?  According to the evidence, it was expected later in the fall of 2009.  So if you could just update us on that?

MR. INGMAN:  Certainly.  Over the last year we've -- the IESO has certainly made significant progress over the past year advancing a number of issues that we had highlighted last year regarding things like the smart meter entity, local distribution company agreements - we call that the SME LDC agreement, for obvious reasons - the smart meter entity governance itself, and also the appropriate rate structure to recover the cost of the MDMR, the metered data management repository.

And we are currently finalizing those applications, and we would expect to file these with the Board in the next couple of months and we would expect by the end of the first quarter of this year.

MR. CAPUTO:  Is that when you expect to file with the Board or is that --

MR. INGMAN:  Yes.

MR. CAPUTO:  In a few months?

MR. INGMAN:  Yes.

MR. CAPUTO:  Okay.  Those are all my questions on that.

MR. INGMAN:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  Are there any other questions with respect to smart metering initiative?  No other questions?  

It is now 25 past 12:00.  We could break for lunch, or I would propose that we just continue with the next issue, if everybody's able to do so and nobody is going to faint from hunger, or the reporter is fine, as well. 

All right, if we can move to the issue concerning reliability?
Questions by Mr. Cooney:


MR. COONEY:  I guess I will lead off on that.  So I will be dealing with the reliability questions, as well as -- well, I will just deal with the reliability questions first. 

So there is not much of a preamble here.  So they are rather straightforward questions, so I will just -- I'll move straight into them. So the first question reads -- and that's -- I can give you the references as well.  It's Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, page 3, and that's the IESO's 2009 to 2011 business plan strategic objectives. And so the first question reads:

"What challenges does the Province's changing electricity system, with its emphasis on renewables, conservation and demand management bring to the IESO, specifically in its role of maintaining the reliability of the IESO-controlled grid during the business plan period?"

MR. WILSON:  I can answer that.  There's a number of operating characteristics that we are going to need to consider as we look into the future with the new resource mix that we have got, particularly with the renewables coming online.  I will go through a number of issues that we are considering and will be thinking about -- no particular order of priority -- just to give you a sense of some of the things that we're considering.

Voltage control will be an issue that we will need to consider.  These new devices are different than the traditional resources that we are used to, so we need to have a sense and be considering what the impact is going to be of the way these devices operate.  Given that they are variable in nature, we know they would be coming on and off at different times than we would normally have considered our traditional resources.  They will also have the potential to cause us to switch our -- our other reactive devices in a different manner that than we used to.  Traditionally, we would have put resources in, left them in for a period of time, and had to take them out.

Given that we could see those resources moving around now, the renewable resources, we would anticipate that some of those patterns will change.  So we will be looking at what we need to do and whether we need to modify our processes in order to manage that.


Load following is another issue that we will need to consider.  Again, given that the renewable resources are intermittent and are far less under our direct and immediate control, some of the issues we might be worried about would be the notion of a steep load pick-up in a cold morning, and all of a sudden as we are trying to manage that load pick-up, having a number of intermittent resource actually reducing.  So it increases the ramp requirement that we've got to manage as a result of that. 

So, again, not things that we can't manage and we are not capable to; it's just a matter of taking it into consideration, seeing whether we need to modify tools, processes, procedures, and taking that forward. Demand forecasting would be another area that we'll be considering.  Given that we were sure that we were going to see an increase in conservation, time-of-use rates, our traditional method of load forecasting won't be as effective as we have had.  We base most of our load forecasting methodology on a lot of history.  Now that we recognize that that history is no longer going to be applicable, with an expected increase in some of those activities, we will have to understand better whether or not we need different tools, unique tools to incorporate some of those characteristics. 

With the renewables, do we expect a penetration of some of those renewables embedded on the distribution system?  That changes the way we actually see our demand.  Our demand numbers have the potential to look different, as some of those renewables will be, as we say, behind the meter.  So we are going to have to ensure that we have the ability to capture those differences so that we are not over-committing resources or under-committing resources, based on what the expected output of those resources would be.

Dispatchability of the renewable resources, the new FIT contracts have financial drivers to incent participants to operate within the market at appropriate price signals.  So we will need to find ways to dispatch those resources, primarily in a down direction when we have got surplus periods.  So, again, that will be another tool that we have to incorporate, processes, procedures, and as with most of these issues that we are talking about, a significant amount of training and learning for the industry as a whole to kind of incorporate these.

Coordination with the local distribution companies is also going to be a factor that we need to consider.  Given that there will be more penetration on the distribution system, it means that a lot of the present relationships that we have got now are going to change.  We will have a lot more coordination required between us and the local distribution companies, to ensure that we aren't overlapping in expectations and activities, and that when we're taking actions, we don't have an adverse impact on the distribution companies; and conversely, when they are taking actions, we are well aware of those actions and we are prepared for whatever actions they are taking. Visibility of those embedded resources is also another issue that we are going to be looking at.  

Again, this is just about making sure that we have got the understanding and awareness of what resources are generating, when they are actually generating, so that we are prepared to take whatever actions are required.

Another issue that we are starting to think about also is biomass and the fuel storage.  We are starting to get a better understanding of some of the operating characteristics of biomass, and one of the issues that we are starting to hear or one of the characteristics we are starting to hear is about limited fuel storage.  So we are starting to think about what will that limited full storage mean to us.  Will it change the way we have to operate?  Will those resources operate in a different manner than we traditionally expected or understood?

Again, they aren't -- they aren't areas or characteristics that we don't think we can manage.  It's just about making sure we are aware of them and we incorporate them into our processes.

Surplus base load generation, we have had a lot of surplus base load generation in the -- this past year, that we hadn't traditionally seen.  With a greater penetration of renewable resources coupled with our reduced demand levels, we would anticipate that we will continue to see that surplus base load generation.  So we will need to make sure we have got the ability to manage these new resources, and as I mentioned earlier, the incorporation of those financial incentives in the FIT contract will help us do that.

But we will be putting all of those pieces together -- excuse me, putting all of those pieces together to make sure that we have -- we have got the ability to manage all of our surplus, as it relates particularly to the renewables.

So that's a list of eight or nine areas that we will be considering.  It's not a comprehensive list, but just to give you a flavour of where we are thinking.

MR. COONEY:  Okay.  Thanks for that.  Now, my next question refers to Exhibit A, tab 1, schedule 1, page 3, 7 and 9 of the IESO's business plan -- sorry, yes.  Yeah.  Well, actually it's Exhibit A, tab 1, schedule 1, pages 3 and 4, and then 7 and 9 of the original reference I referred to earlier.

And so that question is: How does the IESO's business plan -- or sorry, plan to address the challenges identified in response to question 26 of our package, which is the SME fee submission.  And maybe you can just summarize that for us in the context of effect on reliability. 

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes, I will speak to some of the activities we are going to undertake to meet the challenges associated with the reliability issues that Mark identified and spoke to.

Essentially, we are looking at developing projects, processes, perhaps market rules, whatever is necessary to make sure that we address any reliability considerations we have with the changing fleet.  We are looking at three specific areas.  Mr. Wilson touched on a number of them in his itemized listing.

But we are really looking at visibility and telemetry -- and I'll go into each of these in a little more detail -- operability considerations and coordination considerations.

So when we look at visibility and telemetry, we are looking at what processes, tools and systems we need to make sure that the changing fleet is always well understood by the control room operators who are running the real-time system, the planning offices that are dealing with outage planning for next day and further out, your long-term planning areas, the 18-month understanding of output for the wind, for example, and how we can view and see these resources in the most cost-effective way between our needs -- or meeting our needs and the needs of the LDCs.

So when we look at visibility and telemetry, the FIT announcements from the OPA are speaking of about 8,000 megawatts of renewable generation, I think is the last number that they've talked about.  And there is a high percentage of that expected to be on the imbedded distribution system.  We don't currently have the visibility down to the distribution level connection, unless on a voluntary basis a generator applies to be registered with the market as we control it.  So for any generator that connects to the distribution system, we are effectively, under today's framework, blind to its operation, its output, its outage plan, et cetera. 

But when you are looking at potentially thousands of megawatts on the distribution system, it can affect our reliability, so we have to develop coordinated processes that start with being able to see what these generation resources are doing. 

The IESO is not looking to create additional burden on these resources either.  So what we are looking at doing is creating cooperative arrangements with the LDCs that are hosts to these resources.  They are already asking for things like telemetry on the output of these resources, and we already have a number of relationships with the LDCs.

So instead of us creating additional requirements asking the embedded resource to provide us telemetry directly, we will leverage off the LDC relationships we already have.

So these are some of the types of things that we're looking at as far as visibility.  Visibility also includes things like forecasting.  Understanding what these variable generators are going to do is critical, so that we can set the system up to be reliable and efficient.  

If we have 8,000 megawatts -- I am just going to put it in the context of wind, for simplicity.  If we have 8,000 megawatts of wind on the system, we don't know one day to the next if you're going to have one megawatt output or 8,000 megawatts of output.

Today we have about 1,100 megawatts of wind generation, and last Halloween we had about 900 megawatts of output from that 1,100 megawatts of installed capacity.  The very next day we had 9 megawatts.

So when we are planning the system trying to decide how many of these large gas units you are going to commit, what you need to import and export on a given day, you have to have a pretty good idea of what's going to be happening from these resources.

So when we talk about visibility and understanding, we talk about things like centralized forecasting, tightening our standards and our margin of error around the forecasting, and making sure that we can incorporate with greater certainty the contributions these resources are going to have.

And then also when we talk about visibility, this is a whole new process for these embedded resources, where they have to have a relationship with IESO that they have never had to have before.  So we do not have processes for registration that help us know exactly, from a longitude and latitude perspective, where these resources are located so we can do forecasting accurately, from a distribution connection facility perspective.  We don't have that typical information to date. 

So we are looking at enhancing our enrollment processes so that we have a reasonable enrollment process for non-traditional market participants in the marketplace. 

From a visibility and telemetry perspective, it is all about seeing and understanding what these resources are going to do and how they are going to contribute to the operation of the system.

When we talk about the next chunk, we talk about operability.  And when we look at operability, the IESO is looking at things -- everything from the transmission capability to accept resources -- I mentioned the Halloween example.  If you have 100 megawatts of transmission capacity, if you only put 100 megawatts of resources on that line, a good period of time that resource is going to be under-utilized, because the wind doesn't blow at 100 megawatts all the time.

So we have transmission assessment folks looking at:  What is the acceptable level of penetration to maximize the penetration and opportunities of the renewables in this category?  Operability components that Mr. Wilson spoke about, voltage control, load following, these are all other examples of some of the standards that we would look to develop and put in place systems or processes to make sure that we meet the standards that we're required to meet, from an industry perspective, and to ensure that we have a reliable and efficient system that we are operating. 

And then one of the key components of activity in the operability sector or category is the FIT dispatch.  The feed and tariff articulates, in its contract for generators 5 megawatts or larger, an opportunity to earn additional contract payment by offering your dispatch service to the IESO.  

We don't have, today, with the renewable resources, a dispatch process that this is easily fitting into.  We have to create all new processes to ensure that we can give the proper signals and instructions to the resources at the right time for the right amounts of megawatts, and understanding what it is they are going to be able to provide.  So that's what one of the other operability sectors. 

Finally, we touched on coordination with the LDCs.  There is a shift, with the Green Energy Act, to have a larger number of embedded renewable resources, as we talked about.  We currently, today, operate less than a dozen generators on the distribution system, and that was on a voluntary basis where they registered with the IESO.

We could be talking about potentially dozens, hundreds even, of generators on the distribution system that we might have a relationship with based on this FIT contract design.

When we look at the needs of the transmission system and the distribution system, they are not always in alignment due to outages or system development.  You might have a distribution operator wanting to have a generator run, but because of surplus conditions on the grid, we might want that generator off.

So we don't want to create issues by giving a direction that might be counter to the needs of the distribution organization, and vice versa.

So we have undertaken and are starting work with both the EDA and Hydro One and the other distributors to deal with:  What are our coordination needs?  What information can we provide them that will help them understand how their system is going to operate?

For example, we have centralized forecasting.  We are offering to give that information to them so they know what the generators on their system are going to be doing, so they can understand the distribution flows, and, likewise, they have telemetry information that we could have from them to simplify our processes. 

So there is a lot of work in the interrelationship between distribution and transmission going on.  We have identified and we have earmarked a number of programs in the business plan for about $3 million over the business time frame, and that's the money that we have earmarked for that.  

We are still in the early stages.  We have not seen any FIT applications as of this point.  We are still going on what the OPA has had in response, so we haven't formally defined, to the level of detailed needed, to specify specific projects and capital costs.  We have it earmarked and have identified some.  For example, the centralized forecasting has been identified, and we have capital costs in for that on an estimation, but we don't have some of the costs we expect for operability dispatch and these sorts of things.  So long answer, sorry.

MR. COONEY:  Thanks.  So you were saying that visibility, operability and coordination, there is roughly 3 million over the length of 2010 to 2012 period included, or is that -- 

MR. FINKBEINER:  I'm just referencing to the business plan submission.  All we have put in at this time for the capital programs that we could expect is about $3 million over the three.  There is -- centralized forecasting is a larger majority of that, and then in the 2011 and 2012 time frame, there is about $1.2 million for other integration activities.

MR. COONEY:  Okay, just to clarify.

MS. HELT:  There may just be a follow-up, if you could give us a moment.

MR. COONEY:  Thank.  I have just one follow-on question to some of the topics that Mr. Wilson was addressed.  I think you talked about nine things in your previous answer.  

Now, do you have some sort of indication as to the process, like, budgeting process for those items that would go into the planning period at all?  Could you talk about that at a high level?

MR. INGMAN:  I can talk to the budgeting process generally, and it would probably cover both of what Mr. Wilson and Mr. Finkbeiner talked to, and more generally what we do at the IESO.

I referred, I think, in my answer to AMPCO earlier about yearly business planning process, where we outlined the various strategic objectives of the IESO.

And obviously a large one for this year, as we have identified within the business plan, is to facilitate -- I can't remember the words we used exactly, but to essentially facilitate the Green Energy Act, as well as our other underlying objectives of managing both the power system and also administering the IESO-controlled markets. 

So we look at the various different strategic inputs.  We use also risk-based methodology, as well, to look at where the IESO's risks are and to ensure we put resources and programs in place to address those high risk areas, or could have potential high risk, and we also use a strategic planning approach.  

So we do that on a yearly basis, and based on those priority areas, we define our OM&A -- our operating, maintenance and administration programs and initiatives, to support that, and then we look at our available resources to support a capital program of actual capital expenditure and initiatives that we'll undertake over the planning period.

So the results of that are described and outlined within the appendix 2 of the business plan, the IESO capital projects, and this year we have split that up slightly differently than previous years where we have shown a simple listing of our key initiatives.  And as I said before, those are the ones that we feel are high enough priority and importance that we will concentrate our efforts there and plan to achieve those over the planning period.

And then we identified those other high-importance projects that afford themselves a little bit more flexibility.  The numbers that we have put in here are really level sort of orders of magnitude-type estimates.  They are initiated by the completion of a form that we call the project identification form, and it identifies, effectively, the scope of the objectives of that particular project, its expected timeline and an estimate of its costs.  Depending on the level of uncertainty around that, there would also be an included contingency within these numbers.  So these are planning numbers that you see here that Mr. Finkbeiner described in terms of its allocation of about $3 million.

So these, as identified, unless they have been initiated, will not have a detailed business case identified.  Before any of these projects are initiated, they will go through a more rigorous planning process where the project sponsor, who is effectively the project champion for any of these particular projects, will work with an assigned project manager to develop the detailed objectives of that particular project, the scope, and the cost and the timelines.  Each of those will have an assigned contingency.

That will then -- that project, once it's gone through that planning and the business case is finalized, will be approved by the appropriate level of authority within the IESO.  And typically -- well, not typically, actually upwards of 500,000 can be approved by a business unit leader, anything upwards of $4 million can be approved by the CEO, and anything above $4 million -- as in the case of EDAC, for instance -- would be approved by the IESO's board of directors.

So that's kind of, I hope, sort of the soup-to-nuts explanation of how we plan and initiate a project, and the kind of order of magnitude of the estimates that are applied through those processes.

MR. COONEY:  Okay.  Thanks for that.  I think that's all the questions we have on reliability.  

MR. WIGHTMAN:  I'd just like to follow up with respect you are talking about the wind capacity and not -- capacity you can't count on all the time.  I just wondered if you -- in your business plan on page 6, you had put that to date as of June 3rd -- June 20th, 2009, it looks like there is just over 1 megawatt-hour.  And I just wondered if you had any idea what the total wind energy production was for 2009.

MR. WILSON:  The total wind output or energy for 2009 was 2.3 terawatt hours, so that one that you were referencing on page 6 was one terawatt hour --


MR. WIGHTMAN:  Yeah.


MR. WILSON:  -- of energy, and we ended up at 2.3. 

MR. WIGHTMAN:  And that's just about exactly what you were projecting there? 

MR. WILSON:  Yeah. 

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  Thank you. 

MS. HELT:  Are there any other questions with respect to reliability?

MR. COONEY:  So we will just be moving on to issue 6, which is around Green Energy and Green Economy Act, or the GEGEA initiatives.  I don't know which one is easier to say.

So just by way of just -- the references involved here are Exhibit A, tab 1, schedule 1, pages 3 and 4.  The second reference for this question is Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, the IESO's business plan, pages 3 and 4.  So one of the strategic objectives of the IESO, as listed on page 3 of the second reference, is as follows:

"To prepare for future power system operations and adapt the IESO-administered markets to promote the purposes of the Green Energy and Green Economy Act, 2009."

And the second point here is in reference one.  It also states that:

"A strategic business objective and priority for the IESO over the planning period is developing internal tools, processes and capabilities to facilitate the implementation of the Green Energy and Green Economy Act."

So my first question is:  Can you please provide a summary of the activities associated with the Green Energy and Green Economy Act that the IESO expects to engage in for 2010?  And for each activity, could you please include the estimated costs, including both OM&A and capital?

MR. FINKBEINER:  The answer to that question will have some overlap with my last statement, so bear with me where some of it seem a little redundant.  But when we look at the activities that we will be focusing on in 2010, we have sort of parsed them off into two components, the -- a delivery component and a planning component.

With the introduction of the feed-in tariff, our resources have been focussing in the delivery area on things like connection assessments, system impact assessments, how we prepare to deal with the applications of resources to join the market, create this relationship with the IESO, making sure we understand how they behave as far as technical operation, how we communicate with them as far as person-to-person or machine-to-machine communications, and their technical design and characteristics.

So we have a connection assessment process, system impact assessment process, which will have new mandatory standards of 150 day that came with the GEGEA, which is different than what we had been operating to previously. We are going to be having new enrolment activities -- or not -- additional enrolment activities, as a result of the GEGEA, and then we have another series of activities as far as under the delivery domain, related to ensuring transmission assessments are being conducted and that we have the appropriate operating limits, based on the uptake and the connection of these facilities. We do not yet have a detailed list of where the resources are connecting, how big they are, how many there are, et cetera, so this is -- we are still in the planning and discussion phases.

So we have -- we are focussing on the delivery side, making sure that all those relationships and the systems integrations into the IESO's tools and processes are complete and that everything has valid limits, valid communications, and all of these sorts of activities, these operational activities. Under the planning time -- planning category, this is where we go to all of those "what do we need to do" activities, such as focussed on centralized forecasting, making sure that we have processes being developed for forecasting, making sure that we can meet the commitments of the FIT contract with regards to the dispatch and operability, and making sure that we have -- from a Green Energy Act perspective -- the coordination between the LDCs and the system operator that we need to ensure safe, reliable and efficient operation.

So in the planning area, we are at the -- pretty much the starting line in defining a number of requirements.  And that is our first step, is define what our requirements are, what are our priority concerns.  Some issues will be dealt with much quicker than other issues.  For example, we are focussing on wind forecasting now in expectation of a high penetration of wind relatively quickly, but based on the OPA's comments in the FIT stakeholdering, they don't expect solar to have a significant penetration for a number of years beyond wind, so solar forecasting is something we might leave to later.

So in 2010, we are defining our requirements, starting to build these business cases Mr. Ingman spoke to, and get the business planning and these requirements together so that we can deliver the tools and protocols that we need the manage the Green Energy Act characteristics and outcomes.

Generally speaking, we don't -- because we are at the starting point of defining some of these, we have to approximate the amount of effort that it would take.  As far as a planning exercise, we estimate anywhere from 25 to 50 FTEs that will be needed to do both the delivery and planning, and that will be both from focused groups within -- Mr. Ingman talked about the RI unit, with the planning and assessment activity.  They will carry the bulk of the delivery work associated with connection assessments, enrolment and transmission studies.  But when it comes to the market evolution-type activities Mr. Ingman spoke to, they will be a concentrated core, but we also use subject matter experts from across the organization to ensure that we're meeting all of their specific requirements.  But, collectively, we believe it's probably around 25 to 50 FTEs, and that will float a little bit with the workload that comes.

You can imagine that over the course of the next year, we might have on one month 100 applications on our desk; the next month we might only have ten.  So there will be some variability in all of this, but that is our estimate at this point. 

I will take the opportunity to correct some of the numbers.  I said approximately 3 million.  In the business plan, there is about 3.7, if you look at the appendix, 3.7.  And I quoted 1.2 million for the visibility telemetry.  I think it's 1.4, but that's the capital costs. 

As far as the OM&A, we don't really have a good number on it yet because of the undefined programs that we are looking at developing, but we do have the capital earmarked for that.

MR. COONEY:  So for 2010, you referred that you were in sort of the planning stages and you have not much in the way of numbers at the point.

MR. FINKBEINER:  That's correct.

MR. COONEY:  And for 2011 and 2012, you don't have much of a sense of the numbers?

MR. FINKBEINER:  As you look farther out, it becomes more fluid as to what you can get as far as an accurate assessment.

Right now, we are still working on preliminary numbers, as an example, from the OPA, as to what they anticipate it to be actually filed as an application for registration.  So we are just going at this point -- having not seen firm numbers, we are just going on best estimates at this time.  And the farther we look forward, the less certain things become. 

One of the other areas to sort of emphasize that point, one of the activities that we are -- as far as the planning process, the industry, NERC, North American Reliability Corporation, is developing standards through its variable generation task force.  Those standards might create new obligations on the IESO.  We are not looking to create those standards, but we have to be ready to implement them. 

So when we look, their schedule is about 18 months into the future, roughly, so we don't even know what the implications of that work might be on us.  So creating a solid forecast in that time frame is less realistic as a result.

MR. COONEY:  I also had a question about additional staff requirements, but I think you mentioned 25 to 50 FTE for -- which years is that?  For each year or...

MR. FINKBEINER:  Likely for each year, and it will shift between delivery and planning components, and that's just -- again, it's just an estimate, not knowing exactly what we might need to deliver in 2012 or '11. 

Do you have anything to add on that?

MR. INGMAN:  I think what we --

MR. COONEY:  Sorry, go ahead.

MR. INGMAN:  I just wanted to clarify I think the question was additional.  We are not looking for additional staff.  I think those are the staff within our current complement that we would assign to those activities, just to be clear.

MR. COONEY:  Okay, that's helpful.

MR. CAPUTO:  In fact, the staff levels are actually decreasing over this period; is that right?

MR. INGMAN:  Our plan numbers are decreasing, yes.

MR. COONEY:  Just one last sort of question here.  Has the IESO looked into any of the wind forecasting work that's being done out in California and if they will be able to apply any of that towards their processes?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Absolutely.  As part of our program development, we do a lot of research and leverage off of our peers in the industry, both home in North America and abroad.  In fact, yesterday I had a Spanish group who do provide forecasting service for the Spanish regulator, and they were in talking about how they forecast, what services they have.

So we have had conversations with organizations all through Europe, Australia, California, New York, Midwest IESO, Pennsylvania, the PGM territory.  So we have been speaking with a number of vendors, and it is one of our -- we don't like to recreate the wheel.  We like to learn from others' experiences.  So that's key as part of our project development, is to learn from other people's experience and incorporate their learning into our designs.

MR. COONEY:  Okay, thanks.

MS. HELT:  Does anyone else have questions pertaining to the Green Energy and Green Economy Act?  No questions?

That concludes the issues on the list.  Are there any other miscellaneous requests or questions that were not asked with respect to the issues that someone has thought of now and would like to ask? 

Well, then, unless there is anything further, that concludes today's technical conference.

MR. ZACHER:  Thank you very much.

--- Whereupon the conference concluded at 12:59 p.m.
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